





# Impact of Land use on water quality, sediment composition and functional response of microbial communities in three streams of Nzoia catchment.

### HARRIET ASEKENYE

(11836750)

### Supervisors

Univ. Prof. Thomas Hein. Univ. Prof. Nzula Kitaka. Dr. Gabriele Weigelhofer.

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfillment of the of international academic

degree of

Master of science in Limnology and Wetland Management

jointly awarded by,

University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Vienna Austria,

UNESCO-IHE Institute for Water Education, Delft, the Netherlands,

Egerton University, Ngoro Kenya.

April, 2020

### **Declaration.**

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this work; no assistance other than that permitted has been used and all quotes and concepts taken from unpublished sources, published literature or the internet in wording or in basic content have been identified by footnotes or with precise source citations.

### **Table of contents**

Table of contents	iii
List of figures.	iv
List of tables	v
List acronyms and abbreviations	vi
Acknowledgements	vii
ABSTRACT	ix
CHAPTER ONE	10
1.0 INTRODUCTION	10
1.1 Problem Statement	11
1.2 General objective	11
1.4. Hypothesis.	12
1.5 Justification of the study.	12
CHAPTER TWO	13
2.0. LITERATURE REVIEW	13
2.1 Effect of land use change on stream water quality	13
2.2 Influence of land use on sediment composition and functions.	14
2.3. Impact of land use change on river system primary production and respiration	15
2.4 Influence of land use change on microbial functional diversity and abundancies	16
CHAPTER THREE	19
3.0 Materials and methods	19
3.1 Description of the study site and land use pattern	19
3.1.1 Sampling design	20
3.3. Nutrient analysis	20
3.4. Sediment grain size analysis by dry sieving method.	21
3.5. Assessing oxygen consumption, primary productivity and system responses to nutrie	ent addition
3.5.1 Experiment set up and laboratory analysis.	22
3.5.2 Chlorophyll <i>a</i> analysis	23
3.5.3 Organic Matter (OM) analysis in epilithic and epipsammic biofilms.	23
3.6 Functional diversity of microbial communities.	24
3.6.1. Sample collection and laboratory analysis	24
3.7 Analysis of bacteria abundancies in epipsammic and epilithic biofilms.	25
3.8. Data analysis	25

### List of figures.

Figure 1. Map showing land use and sampled streams of the Nzoia catchment Mt Elgon Kenya......19

Figure 9. A representation of mean values and standard deviation of bacterial abundancies in epipsammic and epilithic biofilms from forested and agricultural stream sections. (N=30)......35

### List of tables.

Table 1. Total sampled site areas and percentages of land use type coverage.	27
Table 2. Mean ( $\pm$ SE, N=12 per site ) measurements with Kruskal -Wallis test results for limnological parameters per sites. (Sites denoted 'a' were not significantly different).	29
Table 3. Variation in Shannon diversity index for the entire incubation period (24 - 216) hours	37
Table 4. Individual utilized carbon substrate per site.	39

## List acronyms and Abbreviation

AFDW	Ash Free Dry Weight
АРНА	American Public Health Association
AWCD	Average Well Colour Development
BOD	Biological Oxygen Demand
Chl a	Chlorophyll a
cm <sup>2</sup>	Centimetres Squared
COD	Chemical Oxygen demand
DO	Dissolved Oxygen
EC	Electrical Conductivity
m <sup>3</sup> /s	Cubic meter per second
ml	Milelitre
mm	Molar mass
NH <sub>4</sub>	Ammonium
NH <sub>4</sub> CL	Ammonium Chloride
nm	Nanometer
NO <sub>2</sub>	Nitrite
NO <sub>3</sub>	Nitrate
O <sub>2</sub>	Oxygen
°C	Degree Celsius
OD	Optical Density
OM	Organic Matter
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
pH	Potential of Hydrogen
SRP	Soluble Reactive Phosphorous
TDS	Total Dissolved Solid
TP	Total Phosphorous
$\mu g/cm^2/h$	Microgram per Square centimetres per hour
µg/gDW/h	Microgram per Gram dry weight per hour
µg/l	Microgram per litre.

#### Acknowledgements

Am pleased that the journey through my master programme that started in September 2018 has finally come to an end. This was made successful by support of many people who I owe so much gratitude. First, I would like to thank Almighty God for His guidance, good health and general provision He granted me all throughout this period.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Prof. Thomas Hein, Prof. Nzula Kitaka and Dr. Gabriele Weigelhofer, for their guidance and keen involvement in the whole process of designing and implementation of the research project and writing my thesis. Thank you so much Dr. Gabriele Weigelhofer for being a generous supervisor and extremely supportive in organizing the acquisition of materials for my field work and analysis of my samples both at Egerton University laboratory and Wasser Cluster Lunz, Prof. Thomas Hein and Prof. Nzula Kitaka, for your generous support and technical guidance during my thesis writing.

I would like to extend my acknowledgment and thanks to Mr Okalange Emmanuel for introducing me to the programme that has added value and built my capacity to face the challenging issues related to environment and other disciplines as well. I would like to thank Mr. Eric Owino Okech who greatly assisted me in the collection of samples and his excellent guidance during lab analysis at Egerton University, Laura Coulson and Beate Pitzl who helped me in sample analysis at the Wasser Cluster Lunz: Many thanks to Mr. Martin Tschikof for supporting me in data analysis and presentation, Ms. Risper Ondiek for the consistent guidance through my proposal and thesis writing and making me feel at home during the data collection period, God bless you so much.

The programme had well designed courses that were undertaken at different institutes in different countries and it would have never been possible without keen, strong and knowledgeable personnel as well as the financial support from Orange Knowledge Programme (OKP) together with Austrian Development Cooperation (ADC) and partner universities. Specifically, I would like to thank Mr. Gerold Winkler, Manager-IPGL-BOKU-Austria, Prof. Nzula Kitaka, coordinator Egerton University, Kenya and Mr. Edwin Hes, coordinator, UNESCO-IHE, the Netherlands, for the perfect coordination of all the academic and administrative matters. More sincere thanks go to the IPGL team led by Mr Gerold Winkler and his colleagues Nina Haslinger, Susanne Karl, Marie Theres Pfeiffer and Lisa Reis for always being patient, tolerant, understanding, flexible, generous, accommodative, quick to respond and for making me feel at home here in Vienna, may God's love be with you.

Finally, I would like to thank my mother and sisters for always being supportive and praying for me. I would like also to extend my sincere gratitude to all my fellow LWM colleagues (2018-2020) for all the support and great memories we shared together.

#### ABSTRACT

Land use change from natural forests to crop land has changed catchments worldwide. The world growing population that needs more space for economic and industrial development is a key driver to this change. The massive deforestation in the recent years is majorly to acquire productive land for crop production, to meet the nutritional needs of the growing population. Yet these changes in land use have impacts on environment especially the aquatic ecosystems and their related biota. This study in three tributaries of the Nzoia system in Mt Elgon western Kenya, aimed at investigating the influence of the shift from forested to agricultural land use on stream functioning in relation to water quality, bacterial abundances, diversity and their responses to stress from the changed land use.

Parameters (Temperature, discharge, dissolved oxygen, electrical conductivity and pH) of the streams (Kapkateny, Kimurio and Teremi) sampled sites, where measured insitu and 60 water samples were collected for analysis of nutrient properties, (SRP, TP, TN, NH<sub>4</sub>, NO<sub>2</sub>, NO<sub>3</sub> and chlorophyll *a*). Sediment samples were collected for analysis of, sediment grain size distribution (30 samples), (160) samples for microbial oxygen consumption rate, system productivity, bacteria abundances and functional group diversity. Sediment grain size distribution within the streams was classified and grain size <2 mm was considered as fines. Microbial oxygen consumption rate and primary production were measured as a change in oxygen concentration in incubated chambers subjected to dark and light conditions at room temperature for respiration and primary production processes. Bacteria abundances were investigated using the fluorescent staining method and functional group diversity was assessed using carbon substrate utilization.

Several limnological parameters were significantly different between the agricultural and forested stream sections, with high nutrient concentrations and more fine sediment accumulation recorded in agricultural stream sections, as well as high oxygen consumption rates, system primary productivity and bacterial abundances. However, functional group diversity was low in agricultural stream sections. It's worth noting that agricultural land use compared to forested land use, heavily, negatively influences high nutrients concentrations, alters microbial activities ( respiration rate), affects biota numbers and diversity in aquatic ecosystem.

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

Pronounced clearing and conversion of forests to other land use types has highly impacted aquatic ecosystems biota as well as their functions in nutrient recycling and distribution (Qu et al., 2017). Up to the early 1980s, land transformation was mainly for industry and infrastructure development (Vitousek et al., 1997). By the 1990s, the tropical forest loss was estimated at 15.2 million hectares (FAO 2013), due to socioeconomic pressure (Rounsevell et al., 2003). Currently, the rapid changes in land use is as result of agriculture, with about 6 million square kilometers of forest and grass lands being converted yearly to crop production fields, leading to a global extinction (Ramankutty and Foley, 1999; Tsai, 2019). Africa's dominant ecosystems and the mountainous hills are one of those facing rapid conversion as a result of fast-growing population and need for more crop production units (Chenje, 2000; Lambin et al., 2003, Ramankutty and Foley, 1999). These conversions have disproportionate impact on aquatic ecosystems functioning and their biota (Myers et al., 2000; Underwood et al., 2009). As well as a change in environmental patterns and its capacity to retain soil, nutrients, water, organic matter and self-purification especially in rivers and streams (Permatasari et al., 2017).

Denude land cover predisposes disturbances to soil surface, loosening its cohesive and adhesive structure, reducing water retention capacity, thereby accelerating soil wash down and deposition into aquatic systems during rain events (Davies-Colley et al., 2015). The changed land cover further increases system pollution, contamination and biodiversity loss (Pienkowski and Beaufoy, 2002; Xiaolan, 2009), together with alteration of stream flows, habitant loss, increased water temperature, and increased terrestrial inputs (Burdon et al., 2013). Many studies have shown clear correlation between agricultural land use and poor water quality (Holden, et al., 2015), because most agricultural inputs including nitrogen and phosphorous get into the aquatic system through surface run off (Ferrier et al., 2001). Sediments and pollutants deposition, nutrients and organic matter loading, from agricultural sites lead to oxygen depletion, eutrophication, habitat degradation, increased habitat loss, impairment of microbiota ecological functioning and diversity (Baker, 2006; Burdon et al., 2013, Zhange, 2015).

In East Africa, Kenya is one of the countries, whose larger population entirely depends on natural systems like streams, rivers and lakes for domestic and agricultural production. Yet there is a limited number of such resources and the available ones are increasingly faced with anthropogenic disturbances such as catchment degradation through agriculture. Which directly increases high nutrient loading, sedimentation in streams and alteration of the hydrological patterns, morphological structures and functioning. Though studies have been carried out in most aquatic systems in Kenya (Nadir et al., 2012; Tenge et al., 2015; Achieng and shikuku, 2019), focus was limited to water

column changes. Little attention has been given to sedimentary microbial functional groups and their processes.

#### **1.1 Problem Statement**

Rapid population growth is highly being experienced in Africa. Currently, the growth rate is at 3% annually and projections have been made that by 2025 the African population will be 1.5 billion at 19% increase. The increase is highly observed among the youth (UN-library 2019). East Africa is equally faced with the same challenge as other countries within the continent. The population growth rate between 2013-2017 was at 6.7%. Though the region is experiencing rapid economic growth, challenges such as unemployment still persists (Paul et al., 2017), leaving societies with no economic option rather than high exploitation of natural resources and engagement in agriculture for livelihood.

Mt Elgon catchment natural forests are one of those that have largely been converted to agricultural fields. The acquisition of the land is either through massive forest logging or burning. The land is deeply ploughed to remove the tree root remains. The opened gardens are cultivated throughout the year majorly for maize, cabbage, onion and Irish potatoes growing. The farmers in the area use chemicals and fertilizers for pest and disease control and soil fertility maintenance to boost high yields. The farmers have little or no knowledge of soil erosion control measures and the area experiences high surface run off, which has noticeably increased soil erosion.

In response to some of the problems associated with the negative impact of these anthropogenic activities, scholars have carried out more studies in aquatic systems but mainly focusing on the water column, which apparently has been well understood by many scientists. However, less attention has been paid to sedimentary processes and microbial functions, despite the fact that, sediments are habitat for microbial organisms and they provide a mat for major microbial processes that ensure ecological health and stabilization of aquatic ecosystems through carbon and nutrient recycling, nutrient flow to higher trophic levels, organic matter decomposition and whole river respiration (Hall and Meyer, 1998; Hieber and Gessner, 2002). Therefore, the goal of this study was to assess the impact of land use on microbial functional responses and diversity in stream ecosystems.

#### 1.2 General objective.

To assess influences of land use change on the sediment microbial composition and their functional responses in three streams within Nzoia catchment, Mt. Elgon area.

#### 1.3 Specific objectives.

- i. To determine the influence of land use on water quality and sediment composition.
- ii. To assess variation of sediment microbial oxygen consumption rate and primary production along the stream continuum in relation to forest and agricultural land uses.

- iii. To determine stream microbial respiration responses and primary production to nitrogen addition.
- iv. To compare microbial abundances and functional groups diversity in sediments exposed to different land use practices.

#### 1.4. Hypothesis.

There are significant differences in stream sediment composition and nutrient concentrations between agricultural and forested land uses with high fine sediment and nutrient accumulation in agricultural stream sections.

There is a significantly higher sedimentary microbial oxygen consumption rate and stream primary productivity in stream sections under agricultural land use compared to sections with dominant forested land use.

Stream ecosystem sedimentary oxygen consumption rate and primary production will increase with nutrient addition in both agricultural and forested stream sections.

Functional group diversity and microbial abundances will significantly be higher in stream sections under agricultural land use than in forested land uses.

#### **1.5 Justification of the study.**

The fast-growing population in East Africa is faced with a challenge of food scarcity due to dependence on rain fed agriculture and exhaustion of the limited available cultivatable area. Other options such as fisheries have been considered to bridge the gap, but the state of the food basket remains alarming. This pressure has led to encroachment and destruction of natural environments such as grass land and natural forests to create space for agricultural production.

In East Africa, Mt Elgon region forested areas is rapidly being converted to agricultural production units, yet the area has importance streams and rivers that are major water supply sources to both Ugandan and Kenyan communities. Society needs to understand how these changes may impact on aquatic ecosystem functions and effects they have on the related microorganisms, which play a key role in maintaining the river system health. Therefore, this research seeks to increase understanding of how land use change can impact rivers/stream systems and further provide evidence for better policy making, need for restoration and management of such important resources.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### 2.0. LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Effect of land use change on stream water quality

Land use is an anthropogenic act of continuous interaction of man and environment, while using and altering the natural resources and available space for agricultural production, economic development, conservation and recreation (Paul and Rashid, 2017). The different land use types have been noted to have impacts on aquatic systems (WWAP, 2017).

Agriculture production being one of the common land use type, has been for a long time noted for water abstraction (Bharati et al., 2002). Recently, it has been recognized as one of the biggest contributors of inland water contamination with about 70 percent pollutants emanating from such land use (UNEP, 2016). The observation has been made in both, developing and developed countries (WWAP, 2017). In European water bodies, 38 percent of the freshwater pollution is from agricultural activities (WWAP, 2017), the same trend has been observed in US river systems (US EPA, 2016) and in China, water nitrogen pollution is mainly from agricultural land use (FAO, 2013).

Agriculture production in the recent years has shifted from conventional methods to intensification of cropping and livestock systems with high levels of chemical input use, so as to meet the food gap faced by the increasing population, but this has put more pressure on water quality and general aquatic health (FAO, 2013). The increased use of new agricultural chemicals such as hormones (growth promotors), vaccines, antibiotics and pesticides have come a long with the intensification of the system (Lambin et al., 2003). The residues from these intensive agricultural production units finally get drained into adjacent water bodies through nonpoint or point pathways (Stonestrom and Zhang, 2009; Yu et al., 2013).

The intensified agricultural practices which have led to clearing of land vegetation cover to increase production units for specific crops (mainly produced by mono cropping), with high fertilizers and chemical use (Angima et al., 2003), do not take into account soil erosion control measures (Blanco and Lal, 2008), thus increasing surface runoff, alter hydrological patterns, increase sediment, pesticides and pathogenic loading into aquatic systems (Nafziger, 2009). These accumulations affect the oxygen concentrations, temperature, aquatic organisms and general water quality (Malone, 2009).

These agricultural residues especially phosphorous, nitrogen and their forms may result into toxic organisms like toxic algal blooms and bacteria (Holden et al., 2015), that disrupt the functioning of aquatic organisms and deteriorate water quality (Tsegaye et al., 2006; Zhange et al., 2012). A survey carried out by (Bricker et al., 2008), reported that most of the national estuaries eutrophication was a result of nutrient input from agricultural areas. Agricultural crop residues,

animal manure and pesticides where found to be persistent with long residence period in the Midwest and Mississippi river (Goolsby et al., 1999).

The accumulated agricultural residues which may include minerals and dissolved salts for example *selenium* leached from agricultural production inputs as observed in the southern plains of pacific, cause biological effect and deformation of body parts of aquatic organism and affect their performance of nutrient recycling and system purification which impacts the system water quality (Lenat and Crawford, 1994; Boëchat et al., 2011; Lyautey et al., 2015).

Large quantities of terrestrial soil deposition have equally been noted to be higher in agricultural areas and have been reported to cause high suspended solids, turbidity (Davies et al., 2001, 2015; De-stigter et al., 2007) and limit light penetration, therefore affecting photosynthesis and other processes (Giri, 2013, 2016; Haygarth et al., 2002; Meyers and Teranes, 2002). These deposits and other terrestrial inputs normally get into aquatic systems with biologically active solutes which cause high biological oxygen demand (BOD)( Garnier et al., 1999, 2001) and chemical oxygen demand (COD) (Uriarte et al., 2011, Lee, 2003, 2009), which lead to anoxic conditions both in the water and sediment columns (Droppo et al., 2009).

Other practices such as clearing of forested areas for agricultural production alter hydrological patterns (Odira et al., 2010), increase surface runoff which affects the rivers drainage design, increase riverbank erosion, facilitates increased downstream sediment loading (Holden et al., 2015). Cleared catchments expose stream and river waters to direct solar heat thus increasing the water temperature and alter system chemical composition. These coupled with high turbidity affect gas solubility and reduces gas concentrations held in the system, especially dissolved oxygen which is important for system processes like decomposition (Holden et al., 2015; Bailey et al., 2000). A survey carried out by (FAO, 2013) between forested and agricultural land uses, showed that, the root network, under growth and leaf litter within the forested areas offer effective soil erosion control, filtering and retention potential of terrestrial pollutants, reduce surface runoff and prolong retention time, which allows uptake, break down and utilization of elements like potassium, nitrogen and phosphorus (Broadmeadow and Nisbet, 2004; Gundersen, 2007).

#### 2.2 Influence of land use on sediment composition and functions.

Sediments are an important part of the aquatic environment. Their heterogeneous composition provides various ecological niches to microbes and microbial activities (Zhang Ran and Chen, 2015). According to (Brenner and Mondok, 1995; Surian, 2002), land use types such as agriculture do not affect only water quality, but equally alters the sediment budgets (Van Rompaey et al., 2001; Angima et al., 2003; Valentin et al., 2008) by increasing fine sedimentation and altering fluvial grain size distribution.

Ultimate grain size distribution is vital in riverbed stabilization, habitant provisioning, regulating water physicochemical properties and aquatic processes (Bakkar et al., 2008). Clogging of interstitial spaces, burial of coarse bed material(Bailey et al., 2003) reduce substrate surface for periphyton and microorganism attachment.

Continuous sediment deposition and accumulation alters the intrinsic properties of the sediment structures, hydraulics and morphology of the rivers and streams (Di Stefano and Ferro 2002). The high enrichment of silt and clays from the agricultural runoff is equally a source of pollutants (Rhoton et al., 2011) and this affect the fining process downstream. The type and magnitude of sediment fluxes into river systems directly impacts aquatic habitat (Syvitski et al., 2005) and facilitates biodiversity extinctions (Watson et al., 2000).

High deposition increases nutrient retention and occasional resuspension of pollutants in the water column (Newcombe & MacDonald, 1991), thus increasing turbidity (Wood and Armitage 1997) and affecting growth and functional ability of microbial communities (Newcombe and MacDonald, 1991; Zaidi et al., 1999). According to (Likens, 1995; Angima et al., 2003) soil erosion and soil delivery into river and streams was reduced under the conserved forests and grass land but high in agricultural areas. Other studies suggested that reintroduction or conversion of agricultural land to perennial vegetation has been recorded to influence delayed and reduce delivery of sediment, water and pollutants (Hill, 1996; Bharati et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2003; Schultz et al., 2005; Randall, et al., 2013). Forested land cover minimizes erosion and sediment transportation into river systems, reducing the effects of turbidity and alteration of sediment (Brown and Binkley,1994; Seitzinger et al., 2010). Further studies by (Adhikari et al., 2002; Sikka and Selvi, 2005; Nainar et al., 2017) noted that minimal human interferences reduce adverse effects on the water quality, due to limited sediment deposition and inflow into water bodies.

#### 2.3. Impact of land use change on river system primary production and respiration

Primary production and respiration are a basis of river health. The ratio between the two is used to characterize the ecological functioning in the river and stream continuum. A balance between production (autotrophic metabolism) and respiration (heterotrophic metabolism) ensure system health stability (Vörös, and Padisak,1991; Hill et al., 2002).

In natural undisturbed stream systems, production to respiration ratio P/R varies longitudinally, in forested head waters a value <1 has been observed and P/R>1 in the mid reaches followed by adown stream decrease with the P/R being <1(Vannote et al., 1980; Vörös, and Padisak, 1991). Observations by (Garnier et al., 1999), reveal that, in low order streams with less human perturbation, more heterotrophic activity is observed due to less growth of algae and macrophytes as a result of less light penetration but rather allochthonous organic matter input and its breakdown leading to high oxygen thus P/R<1(Garnier et al., 2001). A similar trend is observed in the lower reaches, but this is mainly due to high influx of particulate material that increase

system turbidity and limit light penetration. In the mid reaches production to respiration is greater than 1(Stout, 2003).

Primary production directly relates to the amount of organic matter produced at a given surface area (Cloern et al., 2014) and its majorly carried out by phytoplankton and regulated by the availability of nutrients (phosphorous and nitrogen). Photosynthesis to a small extent is carried out by some autotrophs in the category of benthic autotrophs and to a larger extent by photosynthetic bacteria (cyanobacteria), blue green algae and macro vascular plants (Wetzel, 2001; Thomas et al., 2005). The quality, quantity of organic matter and nutrients recycled and availed by microorganisms for primary production are dependent on catchment land use type and inputs (Malcoln and Stanley 1982; Ward et al., 1990).

A direct effect of land use change on stream water nutrients, light penetration and oxygen amounts held in the system, are transformed to primary production resource alteration . Nutrient concentrations normally determine system biomass although other stream system factors such as oxygen, temperature and light also play a big role (Opdyke et al., 2006; Church, 2006; Allan Castillo, 2007; Schiller et al., 2007). System productivity may shift from heterotrophic production to autotrophic when nutrient concentrations exceed threshold levels (Liboriussen and Jeppesen 2002; Sabater et al 2011), and stream carbon processing of both bound and particulate forms entirely done by microbial metabolism may be affected (Butman et al., 2016).

System respiration like other aquatic processes is very important especially in the break down and distribution of materials, energy flow in streams, regulation of dissolved organic carbon and organic matter in sediment (Seiki et al., 1994; Caldwell and Doyle, 1995; Pascoal et al., 2005; Cloern, et al., 2014). This process is influenced by sediment structure and particle sizes (Kaplan and Bott 1985; Santmire and Leff, 2007), because sediments structure provide colonization surface for microorganism and give a bed mat to facilitate the organic particle breakdown (Petersen et al., 1989; Vance and Chapin, 2001). The quality of the sediment structure and its distribution in stream is highly dependent on land use type from which the different inputs with diverse chemical composition are released. (Qu et al; 2017; Schimel et al., 2007; Silva-Junior et al., 2014).

#### 2.4 Influence of land use change on microbial functional diversity and abundancies.

Microbial diversity is of great importance, due to their association with energy and organic matter transformation. Clear knowledge about their community structures and diversity with an insight of the relationship between environmental factors like perturbation, pollution, global changes and the ecosystem function need to be well understood (Torsvik et al., 1996). Stream sediment microorganisms play a very important role in nutrient and organic matter recycling as well as ecosystem stability, functionality and energy flow through different processes within the system (Singh et al., 2011). They mobilize organic or chemical energy source and mediate elemental fluxes (Orcutte et al., 2011). Other processes such as denitrification, nitrification and

remineralization of organic matter with electron acceptors are equally carried out by microorganisms (Thamdrump and Dalsgaards 2002; Mrozik et al., 2014).

Degradation of organic phosphorous to soluble forms (PO<sub>4</sub>), nitrogen cycling,(Bernot et al., 2010) degradation of dissolved and particulate organic matter that have a high influence on the nutrient balance in the water column (Gächter and Meyer, 1993) are done by microbial communities. Other important roles played by microorganisms in aquatic ecosystem structures and processes are system purification (Silva-Junior et al., 2014; Mrozik et al., 2014; Bernot et al., 2010). The microorganisms also facilitate oxygen exchange between the water-sediments inter phase (Davies-Colley et al., 2015). Fundamentally, their extracellular enzymatic activity within the system provides information about the source and amount of organic matter available in the system (Boschker and Cappenberg, 1998).

However, their distribution, composition and diversity are endangered because the microbial habitat is highly degraded as large amounts of soil and plant residues from agricultural areas are deposited and stored in sediments and can cause clogging (Kolten et al., 1997). The lost terrestrial soils deposited in river systems result into sediment addition, accumulation and alteration of its structural composition, degradation of the habitat quality for invertebrates and microorganisms (Lenat and Crawford, 1994). A shift or disturbance of their habitat and compositional structure effects the entire ecosystem functioning and their functional diversity (Zhange, 2015). Sediment accumulation affects microbial nutritional mat quality and biofilms composition which affects their diversity and distribution in a system (Boëchat et al., 2011, 2014).

Pesticides, heavy metals and other toxicants bound in silt and clay coming from agricultural land end up polluting the system and affecting the microbial community composition and their activities. Such pollutants are absorbed into their bodies and can cause damages and death (Freel et al., 2012). According to (Allison and Martiny, 2008; Sun et al., 2012), the most common threat to ecological health of streams is environmental sediments pollution because it influences the functional diversity and abundance of microorganisms. Other observations on microbial diversity decrease were made by (Wang et al., 2012; Giri and Qiu, 2016; Kochling et al., 2017), who reported that environmentally polluted tropical rivers had limited microbial communities and variance in water quality dissolved oxygen amounts, pH and water temperature that were influenced by agricultural land use also influenced their diversity.

Accumulation of pesticides and other chemicals with long residence time and degradation processes change the structural community and microbial diversity in sediments (Ito et al., 2016). The accumulations may lead to system eutrophication, resulting into ineffective and inefficient breakdown of organic matter, high oxygen depletion which causes anoxic conditions in the sediment bed and may result to microbial death (Muturi et al., 2017; Mrozik et al., 2014). These degradations and loss of quality habitant in ecosystems results into reduced microbial growth and

functioning which may later impact on their diversity (Karatayevet al., 2005; Hepp and Santos, 2009; Nalepa, 2007).

Studies have shown that, structural composition and diversity of aquatic microbiota can be controlled by stochastic dispersal and recruitment of terrestrial species (Logue and Lindström, 2008; Battin et al., 2016; Niño-García et al., 2016). Further suggestions were made by (Crump and Hobbie, 2005; Widder et al 2014; Niño-García et al., 2016) that hydrological patterns, stream flows, and physicochemical properties that are influenced by land use type may shape microbial community structuring , dispersal and habitation time.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

#### 3.0 Materials and methods

#### 3.1 Description of the study site and land use pattern

The research was carried out in three third order wadable streams with similar land use pattern originating from Mt Elgon in Kenya. The streams; Kapkateny, Teremi and Kimurio are in the western part of Kenya (Figure 1) and the drain into the Nzoia river. All the three streams are located at an altitude between 1878m to 2239m above sea level and lie between  $00^{\circ} 47' 37.23'$  N- $00^{\circ} 53'50.31'$ N, and  $34^{\circ} 33' 50.4''$  E- $34^{\circ} 45' 45.54''$  E. The area has volcanic soils and receives bimodal pattern of rain fall with over 1,270 mm annually. Minimum and maximum temperature range between  $15^{\circ}$ c and  $25^{\circ}$ c. The upper reaches of all three streams had over 85% forest cover with different trees, shrubs, herbs and grass species while the lower catchments have been converted to settlement and agricultural production units. In-streams of the forested sections were narrow with fallen tree branches, riffles, pools and shallow clear water, while those in agricultural stream sections had highly eroded banks, widened channels, plants and terrestrial residues, animal droppings, pools with high suspended matter and highly turbid water.



Figure 1. Map showing land use and sampled streams of the Nzoia catchment Mt Elgon Kenya

The sampled areas basically had two dominating land uses :- forested and agricultural. The forested areas had a mixture of different tree species and grasses, while the agricultural areas were dominated by poor agricultural methods such as continuous ploughing on slopes, poor soil erosion control measures, eroded fields, gullies, rills (surface runoff passages), poorly managed crop residues, high use of chemicals and fertilizers. The major crops grown in the mid and lower catchments include Irish potatoes, onion, tomatoes, cabbage and maize, with an integration of cattle keeping and grazing.

#### 3.1.1 Sampling design.

Sampling of some samples was done on weekly basis in the month of Novermber (2019), at five sites, three upstream (forested) and two down stream (agricultural land use) sites of Kapkateny, Teremi and Kimurio. Atotal of 60 measurements, 12 per site were done for physco parameters and 12 water samples where collected per site for nutrients analysis. A total of 160 sediment samples, 32 per site, 8 per sampling time were collected for measurement of microbial oxygen consumption rate and primary production, while for sediment grain size analysis, bacteria abundancies and functional group diversity, samples were collected once. A total of 30 sediment samples, 6 per site were collected along a stream stretch of 50 meters, at a depth of 10cm for grain size and triplicates samples were collected at a depth of 5cm for bacterial abundancies and functional group diversity.

#### 3.2 Field measurements and water samples collection for limnological parameters analysis.

The physicochemical parameters (Temperature, Dissolved oxygen, pH, Electrical conductivity were measured insitu using a multimeter probe (HACH 40d). Stream width, depth and discharge were measured using tape measure, deep stick and flow meter (OTT MF Pro- OTT Hydrometer) respectively. Water samples for analysis of chemical parameters were collected using acid washed (10%H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) bottles in triplicates and stored in the cool box for transportation to the laboratory for analysis. The samples were filtered immediately on arrival with GF-F filters and analyzed for total phosphorous (TP), Soluble Reactive phosphorous (SRP), dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN), according to (APHA, 2005).

#### 3.3. Nutrient analysis

Different nutrients were analyzed; Ammonium-Nitrogen (NH<sub>4</sub>-N), Nitrate-Nitrogen (NO<sub>3</sub>-N) and Nitrite-Nitrogen (NO<sub>2</sub>-N) concentrations were determined using standard methods as described in (APHA, 2005). The NH<sub>4</sub>-N was determined through sodium salicylate method, where 2.5 ml of sodium-salicylate solution and 2.5 ml of hypochloride solution were added to 25 ml of filtered water samples from the studied streams. The samples were then incubated in the dark for 90 minutes, after which, the absorbencies were read through scanning spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 665 nm using a (GENESYS 10 uv). Nitrate-Nitrogen was determined through

sodium-salicylate method, where 1ml of freshly prepared sodium salicylate solution was added to 20 ml of filtered water sample. The processed samples were then placed in the oven to evaporated to complete dryness at 95°C. The resulting residues were dissolved using 1ml H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> acid, followed by addition of 40 ml of distilled water and 7 ml of potassium-sodium hydroxide-tartrate solution respectively, and their absorbencies were read at a wavelength of 420 nm. Nitrite-Nitrogen was analyzed through a reaction between sulfanilamide and N-Naphthyl-(1) ethylendiamin-dihydrochloride and absorbencies read at a wavelength of 543 nm. The final concentrations of NH<sub>4</sub>-N, NO<sub>3</sub>-N and NO<sub>2</sub>-N were calculated using respective equations generated from their standard calibration curves (APHA, 2005). Soluble Reactive Phosphorus (SRP) was analyzed using the ascorbic acid method (APHA, 2005). The prepared reagents of ammonium molybdate solution (A), Sulphuric acid (B), ascorbic acid (C) and potassium antimonyltartrate solution (D) were mixed in a ratio of A:B:C:D= 2:5:2:1 (ml). The resulting mixed solution was added to the filtered water sample at a ratio of 1:10 and the absorbencies were read at 885 nm wavelength using a (GENESYS 10 uv) scanning spectrophotometer after 15 minutes of reaction and concentrations were determined from known concentrations of standard solutions (APHA, 2005). Total phosphorus (TP) was determined by persulphate digestion of unfiltered water to reduce the forms of phosphorus present into soluble reactive phosphates (SRP). After the digestion, evaporated water was replaced, and TP was analyzed as SRP using ascorbic acid method. The concentration of TP was determined from a similar process of known concentrations of phosphorus standard solutions (APHA, 2005).

#### 3.4. Sediment grain size analysis by dry sieving method.

A total of 30 samples were collected with a representation of six replicates per site. Sediment samples were collected using a shovel at about 10 cm depth from forested and agricultural stream sections in all the three streams, packed in clean polythene bags for transportation to the laboratory for analysis of sediment grain sizes. The samples were dried at 90°C for 24 hours. The initial weights of the dried samples were recorded, samples were sieved through 12 mm, 10 mm, 8 mm, 6 mm, 4 mm, 2 mm, 1 mm, 0.5 mm stack sieve and the retained weight in each sieve were recorded. The granular material that passed through sieve size 2 mm were considered as fines according to the standard classification of sediment grain sizes by (Singh and Müller, 2007). The relative weight fractions of different sediment sizes were determined following the equation below as % retained weights.

(W<sub>r</sub>/W<sub>s</sub>) x 100.....Eq 3.1

Where  $W_r$  is the weight of sediment retained in a sieve size,  $W_s$  is the initial dry weight of the whole sediment sample.

## **3.5.** Assessing oxygen consumption, primary productivity and system responses to nutrient addition

The experiment was performed with epipsammic and epilithic biofilms. A total of 160 samples, 8replicates per site were taken from stream sections under forested and agricultural land uses. Sediment samples were collected at a depth of 5 cm from depositional sites and sieved through a 4 mm sieve to ensure sediment homogeneity. The sieved sediment samples were put in clean containers and kept at 4 °C for transportation to the laboratory for analysis. In addition, epilithic biofilms (stones) with an approximate diameter of 3 cm were collected from each site and placed in plastic beakers with insitu water for transportation to the laboratory. Approximately 3litters of site water was collected for epilithic and epipsammic biofilms replicates incubation.

#### 3.5.1 Experiment set up and laboratory analysis.

A weight of 10 g of collected epipsammic biofilms was added into each incubation tube with the oxygen sensors (PreSens Oxygen Sensor Spots). The tubes were filled-up with a known amount of insitu water of each site. These were measured by weighing the tubes and adding the required amount of sediment, and in situ water was topped up with no space left, then closed airtight. The tubes were gently shaken and initial oxygen concentration within the chamber was recorded. The samples were then incubated at constant room temperature in the dark for four hours. Subsequent temperature and oxygen concentration were measured using PreSens polymer optical fiber. Four hours were considered basing on observation from earlier research results that reported very low oxygen consumption rates beyond that time (Hill et al., 2002) For assessment of system response to nutrient addition, a solution of 50ml NH<sub>4</sub> Cl salt with a concentration 250 µg l<sup>-1</sup> was mixed with insitu water before adding to the incubation tubes as it was done by (Beardall, 2001). The samples were incubated in the dark for four hours at room temperature to measure microbial oxygen consumption rate. Then, the same samples were exposed to light under same temperature conditions to measure primary production (oxygen production). Oxygen measurements were taken at an interval of an hour. After the final oxygen measurement, the water was decanted carefully, sediment was transferred to aluminum pan for drying at 120 °C for 2 days, the dried sediment sample weights were recorded, then burnt at 550 °C for 3 hours to obtain the final weights as ash free dry weights. While for the epilithic biofilms, stones of about 3 cm were collected and placed into beakers with oxygen sensors, then filled up with in-situ water leaving no space and closed airtight. Controls were set up with only in situ water and incubated in the same conditions. Oxygen concentration measurements were done as in the previous biofilms. After the experiment, the algal biofilms were scrapped from a predetermined surface area using a toothbrush and distilled water to detach all algal particles from the surface. The solution was adjusted to a known volume for analysis of organic matter and chlorophyll-a. The oxygen concentration change in the tubes was approximated as :- $\Delta c = (Ci - Ct)/\Delta_t \dots Eq 3.2.$ 

And consumption rates were computed and expressed as.

$$\Delta c/\Delta t = ((Ci - Ct)/\Delta t) \times DW....Eq 3.3$$

$$\Delta c/\Delta t = ((Ci - Ct)/\Delta t) \ x \ cm2....$$
Eq 3.4

Where  $C_i$  is the initial oxygen,  $C_t$  is the final oxygen concentration, t is time, cm<sup>2</sup> is the surface area from which the biomass was scraped and DW is the dry weight. The oxygen consumption rate was approximated per dry weights or surface area and expressed as ( $\mu gO_2/g$  DW/h) for epipsammic biofilms and ( $\mu gO_2/Cm^2/h$ ) for epilithic biofilms.

#### 3.5.2 Chlorophyll *a* analysis

The analysis was done with water samples, epilithic and epipsammic biofilms extracts using the spectrophotometric method. Chlorophyll *a* was extracted by acetone extraction method following the (APHA, 2005). Where 25 ml of water samples, 25 ml of epilithic scraped biofilm suspension were filtered through  $0.47\mu$ m GF/F Whatman filters using a vacuum filtration unit. The filter papers were folded and transferred into a test tube, followed by addition of 5 ml of 90% acetone and stored in the freezer overnight to allow extraction of chlorophyll *a* pigment. The filter papers in the tube were sliced, grinded at 5000 rpm for 1 minute to burst open the chlorophyll *a* cell then sample volume was adjusted to 10 ml with acetone and incubated for 24 hrs. in the dark at 40°C. while for epipsammic biofilms, 10 ml of acetone were added to 10 g sediment then kept in the freezer for 24 hrs. All the samples were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 2500 rpm and a clarified extract was decanted into clean glass cuvette for optical density (OD) reading at weave length 750 nm and 663 nm using (DR 3900-Hach Lange) photometer. The reading at 750 nm wavelengths was considered to correct turbidity (Steinman et al, 2017). Chlorophyll *a* concentration was then calculated according to (Talling and Driver, 1961).

$$Chla = 11.40 \frac{(E_{664} - E_{750})}{V2*L} * V1....Eq 3.5$$

Where: V<sub>1</sub> is the volume of extract in ml, V<sub>2</sub> is the volume of the filtered water sample in liter, L is the light path length of cuvette in cm,  $E_{663}$  and  $E_{750}$  are the optical densities (OD) of the sample and 11.40 is the absorption coefficient for chl-a in  $\mu g l^{-1}$ .

#### 3.5.3 Organic Matter (OM) analysis in epilithic and epipsammic biofilms.

The organic matter was analyzed by filtering 25 ml of the scrapped epilithic biofilm suspension through pre combusted weighed  $0.7\mu m$  GFF filters (Whatman), and for epipsammic biofilm, 10 g of sediment was used. These were dried at 100 °c for 3 hours to obtain sample dry weight, the samples were then combusted in the marvel furnace at 550 °c for 3 hours, to obtain ash free dry weight. The surface area of the biofilms was normalized to square centimeters of the sand and stones

surfaces as described by (Marxsen and Witzel ,1991). The organic matter content was estimated as a difference in the weights and was expressed in grams per square centimeter.

OM=W<sub>d</sub>-W<sub>a</sub>.....Eq 3.6

where W<sub>d</sub> is the dry weigh after drying, W<sub>a</sub> is the weight after burning (ash free dry weight).

#### 3.6 Functional diversity of microbial communities.

The functional group diversity was assessed using carbon sources with ecological meaning, built up in (Biolog Ecoplates). Extracts from biofilms were inoculated into the plates and incubated from 24 to 216 hours under room temperature as described by (Feigl, 2017), and optical density reading were done every 24 hours. The eco plates comprised of 96 wells with 31 individual carbon sources with a defined ecological meaning and one control containing water (Garland, 1996). These were preferred because of the fast results and wide range of use by earlier researchers (Zhang et al, 2013; Nautiyal, 2010).

#### 3.6.1. Sample collection and laboratory analysis

Samples were collected in replicates from each site, 1.3 g sediment and 3 ml of water samples were collected into sterile vials, frozen and transported to the laboratory for further analysis. Laboratory analysis was done under sterile conditions with pre-sterilized equipment and reagents. Frozen samples were thawed at room temperature for 3-4 hours and transferred to sterile 15ml tubes, where 10 ml of sterile sodium pyrophosphate solution was added to detach microorganisms from the sediment. The samples were sonicated in the sonication both for 10 minutes and later centrifuged for 1 minute at 800 rpm. Then 400  $\mu$ g of the centrifuge suspension was pipetted into 15ml tube followed by addition of 10 ml sterile sodium pyrophosphate solution to have 1:100 end dilution and 130 $\mu$ g of the suspension was pipetted and inoculated quickly into the eco plates. The plates were then incubated at room temperature (25°c) in the dark for 9 days with 24-hour readings using microplate reader (Varioskan Flash- Thermofisher Scientific), at a wavelength of 590nm. The obtained optical density values were corrected by subtracting absorbance values of the 31 wells from the control well. Values <0.0001 were corrected to 0 and the average well color development (AWCD)was calculated per plate and per time as:-

```
AWCD = \sum (C_i - R)/31...Eq 3.7
```

Where R is the OD<sub>590nm</sub> of the control well and C<sub>i</sub> is the OD value in the 31 carbon wells

and the Shannon diversity index was calculated for every 24hours time as

H =	$-\sum Pi * (lnP)$	)	Eq 3	.8
-----	--------------------	---	------	----

Where, *Pi* is OD<sub>590</sub>nm value in *i* well divided by mean OD<sub>590</sub> nm value of 31 wells.

#### 3.7 Analysis of bacteria abundancies in epipsammic and epilithic biofilms.

Samples were collected in triplicates at a depth of 5 cm for the epipsammic biofilms and were sieved through 4 cm sieve, then ~1.35 g of sediment and 3 ml of unfiltered in-situ water was added. The samples were immediately fixed with 0.75 ml formalin (2% final concentration). While for epilithic biofilms, 3ml of scrapped suspension were transferred into vails and fixed immediately with 0.75 ml formalin (2% final concentration). All the samples were kept at 4°C and transported to the laboratory for analysis. Laboratory analysis was done using fluorescent staining with DAPI (4,6diamidino -2 phenylindole) method. A working solution was prepared by diluting 5 µg of Sybr Green II RNA gel stain in 995 uL of Dimethyl Sulphoxide 99.5%. Pyrophosphate solution (10 mM pyrophospate)-4,461 g Tetrasodium pyrophosphate 10 was diluted to 11 tre with filtered distilled water (0,22 µm). Tween 80: 10% Tween 80 solution was diluted with small amounts of distilled filtered water, then filtered through 0.22  $\mu$ m filter and 5  $\mu$ l were added to the samples, followed by 1ml pyrophosphate solution and 4 ml sterile water. The mixture was sonicated in water bath at 14 rpm for 3 minutes, with intermittent shaking after every minute. The samples were then incubated in ice for 15 minutes, followed by centrifugation for 1 minute at 14000 rpm. From the supernatant, 2 ml were drawn and filtered through 5 µm membrane, then 50 µL of the filtrate was pipetted into 15 ml tubes. These were then diluted by addition of 9950 µm of distilled water, and 995 µl of the diluted sample were pipetted into separate tubes to obtain samples for staining with 5  $\mu$ l staining of solution and the unstained. The resulting solutions were mixed and kept in the dark (under tin foil) at room temperature for at least 15 minutes, then incubated at 75 °C in a water bath for 10 minutes. The samples were then analyzed for bacteria counts using flow cytometry method following (Porter and Feig, 1980) procedure.

#### 3.8. Data analysis.

The obtained data was organized and stored using the excel spread sheets and statistically analyzed using the R statistical program (version 3.6.3) as applied by (Tufto and Cavallini, 2005). Shapiro-Wilk's test was used to examine the data normality, then nonparametric test (Kruskal Wallis test) used to test for significant differences in parameters and Wilcoxon rank sun tests comparisons was used to test significant differences among the sites measured parameters.

Descriptive statistics were used to present the variation in water quality variables and nutrient concentrations. Bar graphs, box and whisker plots were used to present results on bacteria abundances, sediment grain size distribution, microbial oxygen consumption rates and primary production between forested and agricultural stream sections. Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to establish microbial functional groups in different sites and to obtain functional diversity of the benthic microorganisms.

Linear correlation analysis was used to establish correlations between oxygen consumption rates, primary production and bacterial abundancies with selected water quality parameters, and sediment

grain sizes. Land use maps were developed using QGIS software (QGIS Development Team, 2015) and CORINE landcover database (EEA, 2018).

### **CHAPTER FOUR**

#### 4.0 RESULTS.

#### 4.1. Land use.

Land use data and land map (Fig. 1) were extracted from Landsat TM images and land cover data of Kenya environmental planning unit using QGIS 3.45 with Grass 7.6.0. The two predominant kinds of land use types were forested and cultivated land. The land use image was interpreted at of 1:10km and the overall interpretation accuracy of the land use was at 90% basing on the provided coordinates of the sampled areas. The sampled streams (Fig 1) and stream basins were divided into three watersheds. The total sub water shed areas and proportions of each land use were calculated (Table 1).

The total catchment area of the sampled sites ranged between 68.46 to 81.71 km<sup>2</sup>, with Kimurio forested section covering the largest area (81.71 km<sup>2</sup>) and Kapkateny agricultural sites having the least (68.46 km<sup>2</sup>). Teremi had a full tree vegatation cover (100%) in the forested stream section and kimurio had the least tree cover in the forested stream section (89.19%). Teremi/Kimurio had the largest area coverted to agricultural land use and Kapkateny had the least area under agricultural land use (Table 1.)

Site name	Total area	Vegetations	Shrub cover	Crop cover	others
	(km²)	cover			
Teremi forested	70.66	100	0	0	0
Kapkateny forested	70.66	93.75	0	6.25	0
Kimurio forested	81.71	89.19	0	10.81	0
Kapkateny Agric	68.46	7.90	3.23	83.88	5
Teremi/kimurio Agric	70.65	0	0	95.0	5

Table 1. Total sampled site areas and percentages of land use type coverage.

The studied streams were flowing through areas covered with two predominant land use types ( agriculture and forests) that had different vegetation cover. The forested stream sections of Teremi having (100%), Kapkateny (93.7 %) and Kimurio (89.19%) tree dominance. The agricultural stream section of Kapkateny consisted of (83.88%) open and cultivated agricultural land, (3.23%) shrub cover, (5%) other land uses such as homes and roads. Teremi/Kimurio was (95%) dominated by crop farming and (5%) other land use types (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Graphical representation of sampled streams catchment land use types.

## **4.2.** Comparison of physico-chemical parameters between agricultural and forested stream sections.

The limnological parameter data sets were not normally distributed, (Shapiro test, p < 0.05). Stream discharge varied among stream sections, with arrange between 0.068  $\pm$  0.12 to 3.66  $\pm$ 0.29 m<sup>3</sup>/s and significantly higher discharge rates recorded in Teremi/kimurio agricultural stream section (Kruskal-Wallis test, df = 7.26, p<0.05). The mean temperatures in both forested and agricultural streams sections ranged between  $14.22 \pm 0.46-21.34 \pm 0.17^{\circ}C$  with significantly lower temperatures recorded at Teremi forested stream section and highest in Kapkateny agricultural section (Kruskal-Wallis test, df =13, p<0.001). Dissolved oxygen (DO) concentrations among the streams ranged between  $6.07 \pm 0.18$  to  $8.02 \pm 0.17$  mg/l, with Teremi forested stream section having significantly higher DO value compared to other stream sections (Kruskal-Wallis test, df=11.6, p < 0.05). Total phosphorous (TP) concentrations ranged between 57.51  $\pm$  3.69 to 203.79  $\pm$  10.23 µg/l. Teremi/Kimurio agricultural stream section registered significantly higher TP concentrations (Kruskal-Wallis test, df=8.41, p<0.001). For Total nitrogen (TN), concentration ranged between 1.15  $\pm$  0.25 to 2.27  $\pm$  0.16 µg/l with significantly higher values recorded in Teremi/Kimurio agricultural stream section compared to others (Kruskal-Wallis test, df=17.57, p<0.0001). Stream NO<sub>2</sub>-N concentration ranged between 0.78  $\pm$  0.11 to 5.28  $\pm$  0.06  $\mu$ g/l was noted to be higher in Kapkateny agricultural stream section (Kruskal-Wallis test, df=7.17, p<0.002). Nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>) was significantly higher in Teremi/Kimurio agricultural stream section (Kruskal-Wallis test, df=7.69, p<0.0001) with arrange between 0.15  $\pm$  0.06 to 387.59  $\pm$ 21.8  $\mu$ g/l . Stream conductivity ranged between 54.45 and 120.2  $\mu$ S/cm. Significantly higher conductivity values were observed in Kapkateny agricultural stream section (Kruskal-Wallis test, df =10.42, p < 0.001). SRP concentrations ranged between  $15.37 \pm 0.97$  to  $20.19 \pm 0.45$  and chl *a*  $180.69 \pm 0.2$  to  $589 \pm 0.01 \mu g/l$ . Both were significantly higher in Kimurio forested stream sections (p<0.05). The mean TDS and

TSS ranged between  $0.04 \pm 0.01 - 0.14 \pm 0.01$ ;  $20.40 \pm 0.05$  to  $450 \pm 2.351$  mg/l, with streams in agricultural land use recording significantly higher values than those in forested land use. However, pH ranged between 7.1 to 7.87 and NH<sub>4</sub>-N that ranged between  $23.96 \pm 7.09$  to  $30.49 \pm 6.93 \mu$ g/l respectively, did not show any significant difference among all sites (Table 2) and a general representation between agricultural and forested land use is shown in figure 3.

Table 2. Mean (± SE, N=12 per site ) measurements with Kruskal -Wallis test results for limnological parameters per sites. (Sites denoted 'a' were not significantly different).

		Agricultural sites		F	orested sites			
Parameter.	Units	Teremi/kimurio	Kapkateny	kimurio	Teremi	Kapkateny	df	p-value
ТР	μg/l	203.79±10.23	193.38±18.11	86.08±6.15ª	57.51±3.69	80.23± 4.51ª	8.41	0.0003
SRP	μg/l	20.05±1.37	16.29±2.56	20.19±0.45	17.44±0.98	15.37±0.97	9.5	0.05
NO <sub>3</sub> -N	μg/l	387.59±21.85	569.21±44.57	0.15±0.06 <sup>a</sup>	0.15±0.06 °	34.71±20.40	7.69	2.84E-05
NO <sub>2</sub> -N	μg/l	5.28±0.16	7.95±1.56	0.78±0.11	1.06±0.15	1.24±0.9	7.17	0.002
NH4-N	μg/l	24.76±4.41	30.49±6.93	22.29±6.37	26.00±7.96	23.96±709	17.4	0.67
TN	μg/l	2.27±0.16	2.24±0.10	1.15±0.25 <sup>a</sup>	1.16±0.26 ª	1.176±0.25 ª	17.5	0.0002
Chl a	μg/l	415.25±0.05	252.2±0.02	589±0.10	180.69±0.02	224.15±0.02	18	0.06
DO	mg/l	6.07±0.18	6.61±0.27	7.92±0.17	8.02±0.17	7.94±0.18	7.93	0.0001
TSS	mg/l	450±23.51	265.38±11.5	20.40±0.05	31.94±0.04	43.15±0.23	7.76	0.0004
TDS	mg/l	0.14±0.01	0.09±0.01	0.06±0.01 <sup>a</sup>	0.04±0.01	0.06±0.01 <sup>a</sup>	7.23	0.002
TEMP	°C	21.44±0.17	21.74±0.27	15.4±0.12ª	14.22±0.46	15.4±0.04 ª	17.8	8.40E-05
EC	μS/cm	107.12±40.90	120.2±2.66	53.4±0.87 <sup>a</sup>	51.86±32.	54.45±0.78ª	10.4	0.0005
Discharge	m³/s	3.66±0.29	0.68±0.12	0.85±0.04	0.69±0.08	0.38±0.04	7.26	0.03
рН		7.31ª	7.87ª	7.19ª	7.28ª	7.21ª	13.4	0.112

The streams water quality parameters differed significantly between agriculture and forested stream sections (Wilcoxon test, p<0.001). Total phosphorous (TP), nitrates (NO<sub>3</sub>), nitrites(NO<sub>2</sub>), total nitrogen (TN), total suspended solids (TSS) and water temperature were highly significantly different, with higher values recorded in the agricultural stream sections (Wilcoxon test, p<0.001), soluble reactive phosphorous (SRP) were equally higher in agricultural sections at significant levels (Wilcoxon test, p<0.05). Dissolved oxygen (DO) was significantly lowere in agricultural stream sections. While, no significant differences were noted in the systems' chlorophyll a, ammonia (NH4) and PH (Wilcoxon test, p>0.05) (Fig. 3).



## Figure 3. Comparison of mean and standard deviation values of different water quality parameters between forested and agricultural land uses (N= 60).

#### 4.3. Land use influence on sediment grain size distribution in streams.

The stream sediment grain sizes were grouped into three textual classes according to Q25, Q50 and Q75 of their particle distribution. For this study, grain size particles < 2mm were considered as fines, those >2 mm were considered as a mixture of pebbles, gravel and cobbles. Specific site representation of sediment grain distribution is shown in (Fig.4 a). Teremi/kimurio and Kapkateny agricultural sections have ahigher dominance of grain sizes below 2mm. A general overview of the distribution pattern between the forested and agricultural stream sections, is represented by the (median Q50) shown in (Fig.4 b), which revealed a highly significant variation in grain size distribution between the two land use types (Wilcoxon test, p<0.001), with a large dominance of grain particles below 2 mm in agricultural stream sections and 6-12 mm in the forested stream sections. The influence of land use in fine sediment deposition and accumulation in stream systems, a general representation of fine sediment accumulation in stream sections between the two land use types (Fig.4 c) was tested. The statistical results reavealed a highly significant contribution of agricultural land use to fine sediments deposition (wilkcoxon test, p<0.001), with over 40 % of the total sediment structure in stream sections under agricultural land use being dominated by fines (Fig.4 d).



Figure 4. Boxplots with median (Q50) grain size proportions, 25% and 75% quartiles, with whiskers representing the lowest and highest values per site (Fig. 4 a), with a general representation of median Q50 variation between forested and agricultural stream section (Fig. 4 b). Fine sediment (<2mm) accumulation in respective sites (Fig. 4 c) and general overview of variation between agricultural and forested stream sections (Fig. 4 d). (N=30).

## 4.4. Impact of Land use on epipsammic biofilm oxygen consumption rate and their response to nutrient additions.

Oxygen consumption rate was different between the sites. Significant higher oxygen consumption was noted in agricultural stream sections and low consumption rates in forested stream sections (Fig. 5 a), (Wilcoxon test, P<0.001). System response to nutrient addition was done by addition of NH<sub>4</sub> Cl salt solution. The obtained results showed different responses in both stream sections (Fig. 5 b). Highly significant increase in consumption rate in forested section was noted (Wilcoxon test, P<0.005). While no significant response was shown by agricultural stream sections (Wilcoxon test, p>0.5).



Figure 5. A representation of boxplots with the median values, 25% and 75% quartiles, with whiskers representing the lowest and maximum values of streams epipsammic biofilm oxygen consumption rates between agricultural and forested stream sections (Fig.5a) and a representation of variations in systems responses to nutrient addition (Fig. 5b), (N=160). Those denoted with same letter showed no significant differences.

## 4.4.1. Influence of land use on epipsammic biofilm primary productivity and their responses to nutrient addition.

Stream primary production was measured by the amount of oxygen produced. The epipsammic biofilm production in the agricultural section was significantly higher than the forested sections (Fig.6.a), (Wilcoxon test, p< 0.05). In assessment of their response to nutrient addition, opposite responses were shown for the different stream sections. The epipsammic biofilm primary production of the forested section significantly increased with addition of nutrients (Wilcoxon test, p<0.001,) while a highly significant reduction was noted in the agricultural section (*Wilc*oxon test, p<0.0001 in agricultural sections (Fig. 6 b).



Figure 6. A representation of variations in median values, 25% and 75% quartiles, with whiskers representing the lowest and maximum values of streams epipsammic biofilm primary production between agricultural and forested stream sections (Fig. 6 a) and a representation of their varying responses to nutrient addition (Fig. 6 b), (N= 160).

## 4.4.2. Variation in stream epilithic biofilm oxygen consumption rate between agricultural and forested stream sections and their responses to nutrient addition.

The observed results in (Fig. 7a) showed differences in the epilithic biofilm oxygen consumption rates between agricultural and forested stream sections. A highly significant difference (Wilcoxon test, p=0.003), between the two land use types was observed with higher respiration rates noted in forested stream sections. A response to nutrient addition (Fig. 7 b) showed significant increases in oxygen consumption rates in the forested sections (Kruskal-Wallis, p<0.001), While no response was observed in agricultural sections with nutrient additions. (Kruskal-Wallis test, p>0.05).



Figure 7. Comparison of median values, 25% and 75% quartiles, with whiskers representing the lowest and maximum values of streams epilithic biofilm oxygen consumption rates between agricultural and forested stream sections (Fig. 7 a) and a representation of their responses to nutrient addition.(Fig. 7 b) (N=160).

#### 4.4.3. Epilithic biofilm primary production and response to nutrient additions.

Epilithic autotrophic biofilm productivity was different in stream sections under different land uses, with significantly higher productivity recorded in epilithic biofilms from forested stream section (Fig. 8 a), (Kruskal-Wallis test, p < 0.001). A manipulation of the system with nutrient addition did not show any significant difference (Kruskal-Wallis test, p>0.05) in agricultural stream sections, but a highly significant increase in primary productivity was noted in forested stream section (Kruskal-Wallis test, P<0.001), (Fig. 8 b).



Figure 8. Comparing median values, 25% and 75% quartiles, with whiskers representing the lowest and maximum values of agricultural and forested stream section epilithic biofilm primary production (Fig. 8 a) and a representation of their responses to nutrient addition (Fig. 8 b), (N=160).

#### 4.5. Bacteria abundances

Bacteria abundances were analysed in both epipsammic and epilithic biofilm of the agricultural and forested stream sections. The mean values ranged between  $(65\pm7.5 \text{ to } 200\pm11.8)$  cell cm<sup>2</sup> in the epipsamic biofilms and  $(20.5\pm0.8 \text{ to } 68.5\pm6.3)$  cell cm<sup>2</sup> in the epilithic biofilms. Significant differences (Kruskal Walis test p<0.001) in abundances between the biofilm type were observed, with epipsammic biofilms having higher abundances than the epilithic biofilms. Variation in bacterial abundances between agricultural and forested stream sections show significantly higher abundancies in epipsammic biofilms from agricultural stream sections (Kruskal-Wallis test, p<0.001) and significantly lower in epilithic biofilms. Wilcoxon test revealed significant differences between epipsammic biofilms of agricultural sites (Kapkateny and Teremi/Kimurio p<0.05) with Teremi/Kimurio having higher abundance. While for the forested sites (Kimurio and Teremi p<0.001), higher abundances were recorded in Kimurio. Further differences in epilithic biofilms of the agricultural sites Teremi/Kimurio and Kapkateny P<0.001) revealed low abundancies for Teremi/Kimurio (Fig. 9).



Figure 9. A representation of mean values and standard deviation of bacterial abundancies in epipsammic and epilithic biofilms from forested and agricultural stream sections. (N=30).

## 4.6. Variation in microbial functional group diversity between stream sections under agricultural and forested land uses.

The average well colour development (AWCD) for each site increased with time forming a sigmoid shape (Fig. 10). The AWCD in all sites was significantly different between 48- 216 hours with a faster change in stream sediments from Teremi forested stream section and the slowest from Teremi/kimurio agricultural stream section (Fig. 10). The AWCD in the first 48 hours showed no significant difference in all sites (Kruskal-Wallis test, p>0.05). However, a significant increase after 48 hours was observed in all sites (Wilcoxon test, p<0.05), with a faster increase observed in sediment from Teremi forested stream section and slowest from Teremi/Kimurio agricultural stream section sediments (Fig. 10), (Wilcoxon test, p<0.05). Shannon diversity index was calculated for every 24 hours and highly significant differences in daily diversity were observed (Wilcoxon test, p<0.001), (Table 3). Considering the 196 hours which was used to develop PCA output (Fig. 10), the diversity index was significantly different among sites (Wilcoxon test p<0.001), with Kapkateny forested stream section having the highest diversity and the lowest was recorded in Teremi/Kimurio agricultural stream section (Table 3).



Figure 10. The average well colour development (AWCD) of metabolized carbon sources.
The diversity index calculated at every 24 hours significantly differed in all sites (Wilcoxon test, p<0.001). The 196 hours (bolded column) was used to assess carbon substrate utilization by microbials and the diversity index of that time was considered to give a general overview of site functional group diversity (Table 3).

		Shannon diversity indices calculated after every 24 hours							
Sites	24	48	72	96	120	144	168	196	216
kapkateny Forest	2.95185	2.663662	1.697856	1.33619534	0.948283	0.81018	0.743407	0.697304	0.676813
Kapkateny Agric	0.442225	0.627159	0.608496	0.81798608	0.730212	0.681608	0.534025	0.501888	0.514719
Kimurio Forest	1.028276	1.193967	1.559402	1.21231245	0.871072	0.773747	0.72681	0.693271	0.699787
Teremi Forest	1.361533	0.944484	0.539304	0.40777843	0.661564	0.621696	0.605748	0.616946	0.64444
Terem/kimurio Agric	0.55779	0.565459	0.419069	0.50165765	0.495492	0.439947	0.439544	0.426711	0.459279

Table 3. Variation in Shannon diversity index for the entire incubation period (24-216) hours.

The principal component analysis (PCA) was used to visualize the differences of the variety of substrates utilization in investigated sites. Considering substrate utilization in the early hours, no significant differences were observed though there were significant differences in the diversity index. However, 196 hours, showed significant differences in substrate utilization (Kruskal-Wallis test, p<0.001) and were plotted as arrows in the PCA output. The utilized carbon substrates were different at every site (Fig.11). A detailed list of utilized carbon sources per site is given in (Table 4). The general diversity index at 196 hours indicated highly significant differences (Wilcoxon test, p<0.001), with the highest diversity recorded in Kapkateny forested stream section (0.697) and the lowest (0.042) in Teremi/kimurio agricultural stream section (Table 3).

The eco plate output at 196-hours showed a distinct classification of utilized substrates per site. The PC1 explained 40.2 % variance in the utilized substrate with a larger range observed in Kapkateny and Kimurio forested stream sections, which had about (10) carbon sources(H, D3, D4, G1, F1, A4, D2, B2, C4 and B3) utilized. Kapkateny and Teremi/kimurio agricultural sections had seven substrates (H4, H3, C2, G4, E4, C3 and F2) utilized (Fig 11). The PC2 explained the variance between Teremi/kimurio, Kapkateny agricultural and Teremi forested stream sections, with the variance explained by 28.5% with Teremi having 5 carbon sources (G2, D2, F4, H3 and B4) utilized. Refer to (Table 4) for full description of the abbreviations.



Figure 11. Principal component analysis (PCA) for the normalized OD data of 196 hours of carbon substrate utilization by sediment microbial communities.(N=15).

### 4.6.1 Microbial carbon utilization of agricultural and forested sites

The microbial community physiological potential for carbon source utilization was distinctive ly different in all sites. (Wilcoxon test, p < 0.001, F= 105) with Kapkateny and Kimurio forested stream sections having wide range of utilization of carbohydrates, polymers, amino acid and miscellaneous chemical guilds except the amines. Teremi ,mainly dominated by miscellaneous guild, Kapkateny and Terem/Kimurio agricultural section, showed high utilization of amines/amide (Table 4).

Site	PCA-Cord	Name	Chemical guild	
Kapkateny & Kimurio				
Forested	D2	D- Mannitol	Carbohydrates	
	A2	L-Arginine	Amino acid	
	G1	<b>D</b> -Cellobiose	Carbohydrates	
	F1	Glycogen	Polymers	
	D4	L-serine	Amino acid	
	H1	α-d-Lactose N-Acetvl-d-	Carbohydrates	
	E2	glucosamine	Carbohydrates	
	C1	Tween 40 Glucose-1-	Miscellaneous	
Teremi Forested	G2	phosphate	Miscellaneous	
	D1	Tween 80 Glycyl-L-Glutamic	Miscellaneous	
	F4	acid d. l-α-Glycerol	Amino acid	
	H2	phosphate	Miscellaneous	
Kapkatenyi &		<b>F  F  -</b>		
Teremi/Kimurio Agric	E4	L- Threonine	Amines/amide	
	C2	i-Erythritol	Carbohydrates	
	H4	putrescine	Amines/amide	

Table 4. Individual utilized carbon substrate per site.

## Supportive correlational tests between different investigated parameters

From the linear regression analysis, there were significantly strong positive relationships between oxygen consumption rate and fine sediment grain size (<2mm), ( $R^2$ =0.74, P<0.001), (Fig. 12. a), as well as with bacterial abundances ( $R^2$ =0.75, P<0.001), (Fig. 12. b). A significant relationship was observed between respiration and organic matter ( $R^2$ =0.63, P<0.05), (Fig. 12. c) and with total phosphorous (TP) ( $R^2$ =0.62, P<0.001), (Fig. 12. d).



Figure 12. Relationship between oxygen consumption rate with fine sediment grain size, (Fig. 12 a), ( $R^2 = 0.74$ , p<0.001). Oxygen consumption rate with bacteria abundances(Fig. 12 b) ( $R^2=0.75$ , p<0.001), Oxygen consumption rate with Organic matter (OM), (Fig. 12 c) ( $R^2=0.63$ , P<0.05) and (Fig. 12 d) oxygen consumption rate with Total phosphorous (TP), ( $R^2=0.62$ , p<0.05).

### **CHAPTER FIVE**

#### **5.0 Discussions**

Land use and land cover pattern influence both physical and chemical as well as biological characteristics of streams. Agricultural land use compared to other land use types has more negative impacts on the water quality and system processes due to their high contribution of terrestrial, anthropogenic inputs and alteration of the hydrological regimes (Tang et al., 2005). This study hypothesized that there are significant differences in stream sediment composition, nutrient concentrations, system oxygen consumption rates, primary production, microbial abundances and functional group diversity between agricultural and forested land uses in the same stream system and the obtained results revealed variations in all investigated parameters.

#### **5.1. Stream limnological parameters**

The significant variations observed in water limnological variables (TP, NO3, NO2, TN, TSS, TDS, DO, EC, Temperature and discharge (Table 2) between forested and agricultural stream sections could be attributed to differences in the catchment vegetation cover characteristics and prevailing activities. The differences in the catchment land cover,- forested with high vegetation cover and agriculture with barely any vegetation cover was clearly reflected by the significant variation in discharge, fine sediment accumulation, water temperature, organic matter, TDS and TSS amounts. These demonstrated to be potential indicators of land use change from forest to agriculture. For instance, Teremi/ kimurio with the highest values in most parameters had a larger area converted to agricultural land. According to (Allan et al., 1997), conversion of forested land to agriculture reduces the riparian vegetation of rivers and stream systems, leading to alteration of; flow regimes, in-stream structure composition and functioning. Observations by (Norris, 1993; Anbumozhi et al., 2005; Wilkerson et al., 2006), suggest that, a reduction of riparian vegetation reduces terrestrial organic matter trapping and retention potential, thus increasing their accumulation in adjacent streams. Consequently, these accumulations increase stream/river turbidity (Maitre et al., 2014) and temperature (Allan, 2004; Dallas, 2008; Davies-Colley and Smith, 2001). Supportive observations between land use change from forested to agricultural were made by, (Nayak and Mandal, 2012) in their research in tropical rivers proved that most streams with a well-developed tree distribution and canopy cover had temperature range between 12-18°c, which was similar to this study values of the forested stream sections.

Similarly, variations in TP, NO<sub>3</sub>, NO<sub>2</sub>, TN, EC, DO concentrations reflected increased terrestrial inputs such as chemical residues, fertilizers, plants and animal waste, which are typically from agricultural land use. Due to vegetation cut down, poor and continuous cultivation, the sampled areas experience high soil erosion and uncontrolled surface runoff

(picture 2 annex), which have led to soil fertility loss. According to the farmers from this area and from my own observation during data collection, application of inorganic fertilizers is practised to boost productivity and different chemical application to reduce the effects of pests ad associted losses. According to (Matsumoto and Yamano, 2011), and from my own study findings, commonly applied fertilizers and chemicals (picture 1 annex) within the studied areas contain phosphorus and nitrogen compounds. During rain events, these get washed into and retained within stream systems. Possibly, this accounts for the high concentration of TP, TN NO<sub>3</sub>, NO<sub>2</sub> and EC in agricultural stream sections. In natural systems, nutrients such as phosphorus, nitrogen and organic matter are important elements in primary production and they are constantly utilized (Rajasegar et al., 2002; Buck, et al., 2004), thus, little amounts would be expected in the system, as it was in the forested stream sections. However, the high values in agricultural stream sections could have been a result of continuous supply from anthropogenic inputs (agriculture), which get deposited, adsorbed and stored in stream systems (Droppo et al., 2009). Coupling the high accumulations with high TSS and TDS (turbidity) (picture 9 annex), nutrient uptake and utilization is reduced. Consequently, this results into low DO amount which was evident for agricultural stream sections. A decrease in dissolve oxygen concentration in the water and sediment column as total suspended sold input increased was noted by (Sujitha et al., 2012; Pitchaikani et al., 2010), in Karamana river. It's also evident in one of the study correlational results between organic matter and oxygen consumption rate (P<0.05,  $R^2=0.63$ ). According to (Das et al., 2005 and Prabu et al., 2008), high inorganic input from agricultural areas alters the nutrient budget of freshwater system and further effects their utilization. This study results, high TSS, low DO, high turbidity and resulting Chlorophyll a biomas in agricultural stream sections are simalar to the findings of (Vörös, and Padisak, 1991; Jones and Knowlton, 2005; Karlsson et al, 2009), who noted that, increased suspended solids and turbidity reduced periphyton, planktonic and bacterial productivity, processes by which nutrients are utilized. Other suggestions for high concentration is fine sediment deposition and accumulation from agricultural land use. Correlations showed a link between total phosphorous (TP), fine sediments (p<0.001,  $R^2=0.74$ ), organic matter (OM) concentration and fine sediments  $(p<0.001, R^2=0.95)$ , which were higher in agricultural stream sections as a result of high soil erosion and surface runoff from agricultural land use (picture 2 annex).

Surprisingly, though high nutrient concentrations were observed in the agricultural stream sections, a higher chlorophyll *a* biomass would be expected as well, however, there were no significant differences in chlorophyll *a* concentration in stream sections under different land uses. In natural systems with a balanced nutrient budget and sufficient DO amounts, productivity is possible even with minimal light penetration (Filstrup, 2017). while an altered nutrient budget may inhibit uptake of some nutrients, thus reducing chlorophyll *a* biomass. This supports the observation of non-significant differences in chlorophyll *a* concentration.

According to (McCauley et al., 1989; Watson, et al., 1997; Filstrup, 2017), high nutrient concentrations, for example at high TP concentration, uptake of other nutrients such as nitrogen is limited.

# 5.2. Variation in sediment grain size accumulation and distribution in streams under different land uses

The stream sediment grain size distribution differed in both agricultural and forested stream sections. Mainly as a result of varying land cover patterns (table 1), soil erosion, riparian buffering structures and erodibility ease of the soil structure within different land uses. These dictate on the transportation, sorting and distribution of coarse and fine sediment in a given system, as well as their particle exposure, interstitial space and the sediment chemistry (Opdyke et al., 2006). According to Church, (2006); Allan and Castillo, (2007), change in land cover from forested to crop land has detrimental effects, that range from terrestrial soil loss, heavy transportation and deposition into aquatic systems. While forests compact the soil structure, act as sponge and barriers to soil transportation to adjacent stream/river systems (Schottler et al., 2014), the reverse is observed in the cultivated areas (Blanco and Lal, 2008) where high surface runoff and high sediment transportation is observed.

From my study results, high depositions were observed in stream sections under agricultural land use. This is because the area was continuously ploughed with poor soil and soil erosion management practices (picture 2, 3 annex), which exposed soil structure to high chances of getting eroded and eventually deposited into the recipient stream system. According to Mati et al, (2000); Angima et al, (2003), a high soil loss was estimated from agricultural land use. Similar observations were made by the Kenyan ministry of planning and national development (1994) after their assessment of land use pattern effects on aquatic systems. Other study findings revealed that agricultural dominated land use faced high soil erosion and contributed to large sediment transportation and deposition into adjacent water bodies during high precipitation (Knox, 2006; Belmont et al., 2011). Referring to the studied sites under different land uses, the agricultural land use had poor land management practises, poor agricultural methods (such as monocropping, ploughing along hills, bare plots) (picture 2 and 3 annex) that exposed the area to increased surface runoff and soil erosion during rain events. Absence of buffer riparian vegetation, as it was in the agricultural stream sections, increased accumulation of fine sediment fractions and reduced coarse particle retention and exposure within the stream beds. These findings are similar to those of previous researchers (Bakker et al., 2008; Vigiak et al., 2012), who recorded higher sedimentation in cultivated land during their assessment of land use change. High soil erosion, sediment transportation and deposition from poorly cultivated soils with impervious cover, during rain seasons (Nelson and Booth, 2002; Kevin et al. 2008). These sediment accumulation and distribution may have influenced bacterial abundances.

# 5.3. Impact of Land use on epipsammic and epilithic biofilm oxygen consumption rate and their response to nutrient addition.

The study results revealed significant differences in oxygen consumption rate in stream sections under different land uses as well as between different biofilm types. The high oxygen consumption rate observed in epipsammic and low rate in epilithic biofilm of agricultural stream sections could be attributed to various factors influenced by the catchment, such as sediment loads that clog the interstitial spaces, sediment grain size distribution, high terrestrial organic inputs, which require enough oxygen for their decomposition, system turbidity that may impair light penetration for photosynthesis and high temperature due to less/no canopy cover thus reducing dissolved oxygen. A correlation test between respiration (oxygen consumption) and fine sediment grain size particle accumulation was run. A strong correlation between oxygen consumption and sediment grain size (R =0.74; p<0.001) is simalar to observations that oxygen consumption taken as a measure of microbial activity in sediment, increased with a dcrease in sediment particle sizes (Hargrave, 1994; Rysgaard et al., 1994).

Smaller particle sizes offer large surface area to volume ratio for microbial colonization and microbial activities (Santmire and Leff, 2007). The results obtained from this study are in line w ith other study results which observed that smaller grain sized sediment presented greater surf ace for bacteria biomass attachment then the larger grain sized sediment (Yeager et al., 1998; Lyautey et al., 2005; Santmire et al., 2007). Besides the grain size, TP which was high in agri cultural land use positively correlated with fine sediment grain size (p<0.05,  $R^2=0.62$ ). The high TP value in the agricultural stream section could be used to explain the high oxygen consumption rate because phosphorous stimulates microbial activity (decomposition rate). Thomaz et al., (1997), observed that a reduction in phosphorus concentrations reduced microbial activities in the flood plain water bodies.

Another factor to consider, which is in line with out-puts from other researchers, is the high O M content in the agricultural stream sections. Outputs by Thomann and Mueller, (1987); Adhikari et al, (20 02); Dorcherty et al, (2006); Dowing et al, (2009); Bernot et al, (2010), reported increased oxygen consumption rate with increasing inorganic matter deposition. Other studies by (Hill et a l., 2002; Young et al., 2008; Battin et al., 2008) reported the dependence of respiration rate on particulate organic matter availability. This study results show that organic matter content was high in agricultural stream sections and correlational analysis between organic matter content and oxygen consumption rate revealed a strong positive correlation (R=0.63, p<0.001). Besides OM increasing microbial respiration, its high input and availability in stream systems offers attachment surface to microorganisms (Seiki et al., 1994; Caldwell and Doyle, 1995; Pope et al., 1999; Pascoal et al., 2005;). A test between OM and bacteria abundance showed a positive correlation (R=0.68, p<0.05) and could explain the high

oxygen consumption rate in epipsammic biofilms. Further, strong positive correlation observed between bacteria abundance and oxygen consumption rate (R=0.75, p<0.001), could explain the observed results. Šantr and SiraŠicraba (1991),found a proportional increase in microbial activity with increase in their numbers, that increased with diverse and large surface for attachment in the predominant fine sediment grain size. However, low oxygen consumption rate in the epilithic biofilm of the same stream section (agricultural) was noted and this majorly is explained by high fine sediment deposition and accumulation that could have clogged, covered and dislodged microorganisms that could have a ttached to epilithic biofilms. While, results by Mori et al, (2017) on stream bioflim respiration, showed that oxygen consumption rate in stream riffles that had high substrate heterogenity ( such as those observed in the forsted stream section sites) was higher due to their exposure to light and increased microbial activity, and could account for the high respiration in epithilic biofilms of forested stream sections. Sediment exposure, arrangement, interstitial space, hyporheic exchange and sediment chemistry are influenced by land use type and flow velocity (Church 2006; Opdyke et al., 2006; Allan and Castillo, 2007).

Further assessment of system responses to nutrient addition was done. Where the agricultural stream sections showed no significant response, revealing that, addition of excess nutrients to alr eady saturated systems may retard or impair microbial activities. while the observed increase in the forested areas suggest that, nutrient additions stimulated microbial activities in these sections. Results by Gulis et al, (2004), showed increase in microbial respiration after nutrient addition in forested streams. Studies such as those conducted by (Grattan and Suberkropp, 2001; Rosemond et al., 2002; Ferreira et al., 2015), equally showed a positive increase of heterotrophic microbial activity with increase in inorganic nutrient input as it was in the forested stream section. Similarly, (Craft et al., 2002) in their study in the Flat noted an increase in respiration of the hyporheic sediment after nutrient addition. According to (Allan et al., 2002) in an experimental set up using epipsammic and epilithic biofilms with periodic nutrient additions, their results confirmed that algal and bacterial activity increased. This could be used to explain why the epilithic biofilm oxygen consumption rate was higher.

# 5.3.1 Land use impact to epipsammic and epilithic biofilm productivity and their response to nutrient addition.

System primary productivity is influenced by various factors such as solar light availability, temperature, amount of dissolved oxygen and nutrient availability within a given system and its encompassed within metabolic activities that provide a measure for stream functioning (Niyongi et al., 2004; Bornet et al., 2010; Covino et al., 2012). Quantities of nutrients such as nitrogen, phosphorous and carbon within the stream/river systems may be influenced by, allochthonous inputs (Meyer et al., 2002), land use type, and other natural atmospheric or in

stream factors (Houser et al., 2005; Wipfli et al., 2007). The high primary productivity of epipsammic biofilms from agricultural stream sections (Fig. 6 a) in relation to land use are associated with high nutrient accumulation and availability within the agricultural stream sections. Most studies on stream productivity have reported high productivity in agricultural streams. Study results from (Klose et al., 2009) revealed that, river productivity and algal blooms resulted from agricultural plant nutrients that get eroded into the water course during rain events. In stream processes like decomposition triggered by terrestrial inputs, organic carbon and phosphorous provide more nutrients for periphyton growth (Ensign and Doyle, 2006). Though high production was noted in epipsammic biofilms, of the agricultural stream sections, primary production in the epilithic biofilm of the same stream section was low because these were covered by the fine sediment. Infilling of interstitial spaces according to (Walling and Amos, 1999; Collines and Walling, 2007), increased with increase in fine sediment deposition. Such accummulations reduce chances of microorganisms and periphyton attachment (Yamada and Nakamura, 2002). The high deposition rates as those observed in the agricultural sites cause burials and shading of the epilithic biofilms and physical abrasion of attached autotrophic organisms. On the contrary, high primary production was noted in epilithic biofilm from forested stream section (Fig. 8 a), reason being, the stream bed had a heterogeneous substrate distribution, which offered conducive and more attachment area for biofilm attachment and development. According to Tarkowska and Mieczan, (2012), cobbles, pebble, gravel and rocks offer suitable substratum for biofilm colonization since they are less dislodged by water movement. Study results from Vörös and Padisak, (1991); Singer et al, (2010) suggested that periphyton growth and attachment is influenced by stream flows and turbulent regimes. In relation to the stream velocity result, this study recorded low flow velocities in the forested stream sections. This could have facilitated increased attachment of periphyton biomass, that carryout primary production (photosynthesis). According to Giorgi et al, (2010), in their assessment of factors affecting periphyton biomass and productivity in a pampean stream, they observed that sediment biomass productivity increased in streams with gentle flow velocities and wave surge water flows. Further, (Nikora et al., 2002) reported that periphyton growth and productivity was highest at a flow velocity of less than 0.15 m/s, which is similar to the observed velocity values in the forested stream section. Other factors that could have contributed to the observed result could be the shallow stream water depth and transparency which facilitated light penetration to bottom layers (picture 8 annex). Biggs et al., (1998) reported that, periphyton productivity was highest on substrate that had full light exposure at shallow depths.

The response of algal primary production to N enrichment was assessed through nutrient manipulation with NH<sub>4</sub>CL additions in an experimental setup. The obtained results:- a decrease in agricultural stream section revealed that, system productivity is much more dependent on the

stoichiometry of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorous in suitable proportions for algal uptake. Studies by Mulholland and DeAngelist, (1999); Dodds et al, (2002); Carmichael et al, (2004); Payn et al, (2005), reported that alteration of the C:N:P stoichiometric composition in streams affects periphyton, phytoplankton and primary productivity, as observed in the studied agricultural stream sections. Further explaination by Dodds et al, (2002), suggest that system productivity in excess nutrient conditions, becomes limited due to biotic inability of microorganisms to uptake and accumulate excess nutrients. The forested sites positively responded to nutrients (NH<sub>4</sub>CL) addition, with a highly significant increase in primary production (p<0.0001). Interestingly, this could be an indicator of nutrient limitation in the forested stream section. Earlier studies such as those done by Barton and Johnson, (1978); Gibson, (1971), found out that phosphorous was the most primary production limiting factor in temperate systems but further research in the tropical freshwater ecosystems show that nitrogen plays a key role in tropical stream productivity and microbial activities (Howarth 1999; Drake, 2010). This study results on nitrogen concentrations are in line with study results by (Lombardozzi, 2003) in Lake Tanganyika surround by forested land, and those obtained by (Allan, 2007), who typically recorded small fraction of NO3-N, NH4-N and NO2-N in natural head waters. When nutrients were added to these systems, nutrient uptake was increased. Nutrient addition coupled with ambient oxygen levels and less turbidity of the forested stream sections could have enhanced primary production in studied sites as also shown by (Havens, 1999).

### 5.4. Bacterial abundances and functional group diversity

Bacteria and other micro organisms mainly colonize sediment substrate and are important components of the aquatic ecosystems that ensure ecosystem stabilization, nutrient recycling and terrestrial input degradation (lozupone, 2007; Madsen and Urban, 2011). Their abundances and distribution are influenced by various factors such as habitat quality, organic matter quality and quantity, salinity, nutrient availability, pH, temperature, redox potential, nature and quality of substrate (Gobet, 2011; Vanbeelen, 2003). These results show distinct differences between microbial abundances of epipsammic and epilithic biofilm depending on the land use. One possible reason for higher abundances in epipsammic biofilms is the large surface area to volume ratio offered by epipsammic biofilms that enhances colonization, as it was also observed by (Pope et al., 1999; Schimel et al., 2007).

However, the overall differences of higher bacterial abundances for stream sediments in agricultural land stretches may be due to fine sediment distribution for sediment grain size <2 mm, as shown by the correlation test result ( R=0.92, p<0.001). Another possible argument could be high accumulation of terrestrial organic matter that offered structural conduciveness and material availability for microbial activities ( Garzio et al., 2010). Although studies by

Vrede et al., 2002 suggested that high nutrient concentration especially TN (25-50) $\mu$ g/l and TP (>200)  $\mu$ g/l suppress bacteria growth, this study result contradicts theirs, because even with higher nutrient concentration in the agricultural stream sections, bacterial abundancies were noted to be high. The observed results could be attributed to organic matter content, which equally provided food and habitat. A strong positive correlational output between bacterial abundances and organic matter support the argument (R=0.85, p<0.001). Relating my findings to the two land uses, agricultural land use offered high allochthonous inputs such as plant and animal residues, which contributed to high organic matter build up, that offered diverse habitant and food that enable bacteria growth and multiplication, thus higher abundances.

However, the microbial diversity in agricultural streams sections was low. Basing on various study results, forexample those by Vance and Chapin, (2001); Royer-Tardif et al, (2010), showed that plant cover significantly influenced the functional microbial diversity because microbes depend on a variety of external carbon sources. Zhange et al, (2013) results showed a clear influence of terrestrial litter quality on microbial structuring and functional stability. This study results from eco plates assays that showed utilized substrates, were distinctively different based on land use type. Microbial community of Kapkateny and Kimurio were able to utilize a wide range of carbon sources in the group of carbohydrates, amino acids polymers and miscellaneous compounds. The results also showed that forested stream section had microorganisms that were able to utilize more complex compounds such as those in the carbohydrates D-Mannitol, D-cellobiose, N-Acetyl-d-glucosamines, which was similar to (Lyons and Dobbs, 2012; Romaní et al., 2014) result in a comparison of carbon source utilization of the up and down stream of Llobregat river. According to (Grover and Chrzanowski, 2000; Tiquia, 2010), natural system microorganisms are adopted to and are able to produce enzymes that biodegrade complex organic matter through natural processes. And this is related to my findings, where high utilization of complex carbohydrates (D-mannitol, D-Cellobiose, a d-lactose and N-Acetyl-d glucosamine) and the miscellaneous compound where observed in forested stream sections, which could be associated to their presence in those natural sites (Lycons and Dobbs, 2012). Other studies suggest that, carbon sources such as glucose can only be converted by few bacteria such as bacillus macrerans (Nam et al., 2001, Garland and Mills, 1991), that have the adoption of highly resistant endospores that allow them to survive in nutrient deprived environments like head waters of most systems, in this case the forested stream section.

However, a shift in the metabolic fingerprints in agricultural stream sections was characterized by higher utilization of amines. Microbial community composition can change in streams depending on the dominating catchment land use type (Wang et al., 2011). Utilization of amines is reliant on the presence of oxidized electron acceptor such as  $NO_3^-$  (Jung et al., 2007), which

in my case was high in agricultural stream sections and highly controlled by the amount and quality of nutrient and organic matter exported from the catchment (Abell et al., 2011). Moreover, increased accumulation and loading of such nutrient C, N and P alter the microbial structure and composition (Kohler et al., 2012). From this study findings, suggestions can be made that, high TN, NO<sub>3</sub> and TP concentration affected functional microbial diversity and this coincides with the finding of (Tank & Dodds, 2003; Van et al., 2011), where high amounts of nutrients especially N > 5mg/l and P>200 $\mu$ g/l limited biofilm growth of heterotrophs and autotrophs. Therefore, high utilization of amines in the agricultural stream section might be associated with the presence of organisms that can survive best at high nutrient concentrations, especially NO<sub>3</sub> in agricultural stream sections. (Salomo et al., 2009) found that in the presence of inorganic electron donors as energy sources, chemolithoautotrophic bacteria are able to utilize both easily and non-easily degradable substrate such as amines. A change in utilized carbon sources form a wide range as observed in the forested stream sections to dominance of amines in the agricultural section may be a result of pollutants such as pesticides, (Muturi et al., 2017), heavy metals and herbicides, which are purely originating from agricultural land use.

### **CHAPTER SIX.**

#### CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS.

Fine sediment accumulation in the investigated streams was recorded highest in sites under agricultural land uses. This provided evidence that change of land use type from forested to other land uses especially agriculture, increases soil erosion, high surface runoff and terrestrial organic matter deposition into nearby streams, thereby altering riverbed sediment distribution. The drained terrestrial inputs carried along with sediments get deposited, increase pollutants and nutrients accumulation especially TN, TP,NO<sub>3</sub> and NO<sub>2</sub>, which were significantly higher in agricultural stream sections.

Though nutrients are important for photosynthesis and autotrophic growth, its necessary to note that their concentrations should be in the right proportion. Natural systems have the ability to balance and utilize naturally existing nutrients. However, anthropogenic alteration such as agricultural inputs lead to high concentration that may affect the system production and the entire food web. It is equally necessary to note that primary production may be limited by some nutrients or nutrient concentrations. This study out comes reveal that, primary production in the streams is facilitated and supported by correctly balanced nutrient amounts for uptake.

Bacterial abundancies varied in stream sections under different land uses with higher abundances in stream sections under agricultural land use. A link between land use and bacterial abundancies is explained by sediment grain size distribution and organic matter since areas dominated with sizes <2mm and high organic matter (OM), offered more surface area for attachment for microbial communities that are tolerant to high pollution, high nutrient concentration and are adopted to live in low oxygen concentrations. However, this limited the functional group diversity of organisms from being able to consume a wide range of carbon compounds to a small easily degradable substrates like amines.

The core study objective was to assess the impact of land use on general stream health, sediment structuring, distribution and functionality of microbial groups. The results affirm that agricultural land use negatively influenced water quality, sediment distribution, microbial functional group diversity and abundances compared to forest land use type.

### **Recommendations.**

Basing on the fact that agriculture is a back born of economic activities in Kenya and East African countries, a major source of food and employment for the fast-growing population, a comprehensive understanding and continueous sensitization is required for society to understand the importance of preserving natural forests and grasslands, regulating terrestrial inputs form getting into aquatic systems, having well developed soil erosion control measures and agricultural ecofriendly practices.

Developing and implimeting policies and advocacy on pesticides, fertilizers, and plant residue management with further restricted use of such pollutants in areas adjacent to water bodies.

Management and restoration strategies of the highly impacted/converted land should be initiated for example reforestation, buffer zone increase to reduce influxes of terrestrial inputs.

It may be worth trying to remove high accumulated fine sediment and foster structures that can encourage microbial colonization and growth to enhance diversity since microorganisms play key roles in ensuring a healthy aquatic system.

### **REFERENCES.**

- Abell, J. M., Özkundakci, D., Hamilton, D. P & Miller, S. D (2011). Relationships between land use and nitrogen and phosphorus in New Zealand lakes. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 62(2), 162-175.
- Achieng, G. O., & Shikuku, V. O., (2019). Assessment of water quality.
- Adhikari, R.N., Rao, M.S.R.M., Selvi, V., Math, S.K.N., Husenappa, V., Chandrappa, M. Reddy, K.K., (2002). Studies on runoff coefficient of rational formula. *Indian Journal of Soil Conservation* 30 (1), 106e108.
- Allan, D., Erickson, D., & Fay, J., (1997). The influence of catchment land use on stream integrity across multiple spatial scales. *Freshwater biology*, *37*(1), 149-161.
- Allan, J. D., (2004). Landscapes and riverscapes: the influence of land use on stream ecosystems. *Annual. Rev. Ecol. Evolution. Syst.*, 35, 257-284.
- Allan, J.D., & M.M. Castillo., (2007). Stream ecology: Structure and function of running waters. Springer, *Dordrecht, the Netherlands*.
- Allan, V. J., Callow, M. E., Macaskie, L. E., & Paterson-Beedle, M., (2002). Effect of nutrient limitation on biofilm formation and phosphatase activity of a Citrobacter sp. *Microbiology*, 148(1), 277-288.
- Allison, S. D., & Martiny, J. B., (2008). Resistance, resilience, and redundancy in microbial communities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*.
- American Public Health Association. (2005). APHA (2005) Standard methods for the
- Anbumozhi, V., Radhakrishnan, J., & Yamaji, E., (2005). Impact of riparian buffer zones on water quality and associated management considerations. *Ecological Engineering*.
- Angima, S. D., Stott, D. E., O'neill, M. K., Ong, C. K., & Weesies, G. A., (2003). Soil erosion prediction using RUSLE for central Kenyan highland conditions. *Agriculture, ecosystems* & environment.
- Bailey, D. A., Nelson, P. V., & Fonteno, W. C., (2000). Substrates pH and water quality.
- Bakker, M. M., Govers, G., van Doorn, A., Quetier, F., Chouvardas, D., & Rounsevell, M., (2008). The response of soil erosion and sediment export to land-use change in four areas of Europe: The importance of landscape pattern. *Geomorphology*, 98(3-4), 213–226.
- Barton, L. L., & Johnson, G. V., (1978). Characterization of nutrients and algal blooms at Abiquiu and Cochiti reservoirs.

- Battin TJ, Besemer K, Bengtsson MM, Romani AM, Packmann AI, (2016). The ecology and biogeochemistry of stream biofilms *Nat Rev Microbiol*. Apr; 14(4):251-63.
- Battin, T. J., Kaplan, L. A., Findlay, S., Hopkinson, C. S., Marti, E., Packman, A. I., & Sabater, F., (2008). Biophysical controls on organic carbon fluxes in fluvial networks. *Nature* geoscience, 1(2), 95-100.
- Beardall, J., Young, E., & Roberts, S. (2001). Approaches for determining phytoplankton nutrient limitation. *Aquatic sciences*, 63(1), 44-69.
- Belmont, P., K.B. Gran, S.P., Schottler, P.R. Wilcock, S.S. Day, & Jennings, C., (2011). Large shift in source of fine sediment in the upper Mississippi River.
- Bernot, M. J., Sobota, D. J., Hall Jr, R. O., Mulholland, P. J., Dodds, W. K., Webster, J. R., & Gregory, S. V., (2010). Inter-regional comparison of land-use effects on stream metabolism. *Freshwater Biology*, 55(9), 1874-1890.
- Bharati, L., K.H. Lee, T.M. Isenhart, and R.C. Schultz., (2002). Soil Water Infiltration Under Crops, Pasture, and Established Riparian Buffer in Midwestern USA. *Agroforestry Systems*.
- Biggs, B. J. F., D. G. Goring, and V. I., (1998). Nikora, Subsidy and stress responses of stream periphyton to gradients in water velocity as a function of community growth form, J. *Phycology.*,34, 598–607.
- Blanco, H., & Lal, R., (2008). Principles of soil conservation and management (Vol. 167169). *Bioscience*, 24(8), 447-456.
- Boëchat, I. G., Krüger, A., Chaves, R. C., Graeber, D., & Gücker, B., (2014). Land-use impacts on fatty acid profiles of suspended particulate organic matter along a larger tropical river. *Science of the Total Environment*, 482, 62-70.
- Boëchat, I. G., Krüger, A., Giani, A., Figueredo, C. C., & Gücker, B., (2011). Agricultural landuse affects the nutritional quality of stream microbial communities. *FEMS microbiology ecology*, 77(3), 568-576.
- Boschker, H. T. S., & Cappenberg, T. E., (1998). Patterns of extracellular enzyme activities in littoral sediments of Lake Gooimeer, *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 25(1),79-86.
- Brenner, F. J., & Mondok, J. J., (1995). Nonpoint source pollution potential in an agricultural watershed in north western Pennsylvania 1. Jawra journal of the American water resources association, 31(6), 1101-1112.

- Bricker, S. B., Longstaff, B., Dennison, W., Jones, A., Boicourt, K., Wicks, C., & Woerner, J., (2008). Effects of nutrient enrichment in the nation's estuaries: a decade of change. *Harmful Algae*, 8(1), 21-32.
- Broadmeadow, S., Nisbet, T.R., (2004). The effects of riparian forest management on the freshwater environment: a literature review of best management practice. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* 8 (3), 286e305.
- Brown, T.C., Binkley, D., (1994). Effect of Management on Water Quality in North American Forests. *USDA Forest Service*, p. 26.
- Buck, O., Niyogi, D. K., & Townsend, C. R., (2004). Scale-dependence of land use effects on water quality of streams in agricultural catchments. *Environmental pollution*, *130*(2), 287.
- Burdon, F.J., A.R. McIntosh, & J.S. Harding., (2013). Habitat loss drives threshold response of benthic invertebrate communities to deposited sediment in agricultural streams.
- Butman D, Stackpoole S, Stets E, McDonald CP, Clow DW, Striegl RG., (2016) Aquatic carbon cycling in the conterminous United States and implications for terrestrial carbon accounting. 113(1):58-63.
- Caldwell, J. M., & Doyle, M. C., (1995). Sediment oxygen demand in the lower Willamette River, US Department of the Interior, US Geological Survey.
- Caraco, N. F., & Cole, J. J., (1999). Human impact on nitrate export: an analysis using major world rivers. *Ambio*, 28(2), 167-170.
- Carmichael, R. H., Annett, B., & Valiela, I., (2004). Nitrogen loading to Pleasant Bay, Cape Cod: application of models and stable isotopes to detect incipient nutrient enrichment of estuaries. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 48(1-2), 137-143.

Catena.

- Chenje, M., (2000). State of the environment in the Zambezi Basin 2000.
- Church. M (2006). Bed material transport and the morphology of alluvial river channels.
- Cloern, J. E., Foster, S. Q., & Kleckner, A. E., (2014). Phytoplankton primary production in the world's estuarine-coastal ecosystems. *Biogeosciences*, *11*(9), 2477.
- Collins, A. L., & Walling, D. E., (2007). Sources of fine sediment recovered from the channel bed of lowland groundwater-fed catchments in the UK. *Geomorphology*, 88(1-2).

controls and process. Geomorphology 43: 137-149.

- Covino, T., McGlynn, B., & McNamara, R., (2012). Land use/land cover and scale influences on in-stream nitrogen uptake kinetics. *J. Geophysical. Res. Biogeosci.*, *117*, 1–13.
- Craft, J. A., Stanford, J. A., & Pusch, M., (2002). Microbial respiration within a floodplain aquifer of a large gravel-bed river. *Freshwater Biology*, 47(2), 251-261.
- Croplands from 1700 to 1992. Global biogeochemical cycles, 13(4), 997-1027.
- Crump, B. C., & Hobbie, J. E. (2005). Synchrony and seasonality in bacterioplankton communities of two temperate rivers. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *50*(6), 1718-1729.
- Dallas, H., (2008). Water temperature and riverine ecosystems, an overview of knowledge and approaches for assessing biotic responses, with special reference to South Africa water
- Das, P. C., Ayyappan, S., & Jena, J., (2005). Comparative changes in water quality and role of pond soil after application of different levels of organic and inorganic inputs. *Aquaculture Research*, 36(8), 785-798.
- Davies-Colley, R. J., & Smith, D. G., (2001). Turbidity suspended sediment, and water clarity:
- Davies-Colley, R., Hicks, M., Hughes, A., Clapcott, J., Kelly, D., & Wagenhoff, A., (2015). Fine sediment effects on freshwaters, and the relationship of environmental state to sediment load. *National Institute for Water and Atmospheric Research Ltd Client HAM2015-104*.
- De Stigter, H. C., Boer, W., de Jesus Mendes, P. A., Jesus, C. C., Thomsen, L., van den Bergh,
  G. D., & van Weering, T. C., (2007). Recent sediment transport and deposition in the
  Nazaré Canyon, Portuguese continental margin. *Marine Geology*, 246(2-4), 144-164.
- Di Stefano, C. & Ferro, V., (2002). Linking clay enrichment and sediment delivery processes.
- dissolved organic matter in aquatic systems in situ using combined acoustic and optical measurements. *Limnology and Oceanography: Methods*, 7(1), 119-131.
- Docherty KM, Young KC, Maurice PA, & Bridgham SD., (2006). Dissolved organic matter concentration and quality influences upon structure and function of freshwater microbial communities. *Microb Ecol.* Oct; 52(3):378-88.
- Dodds, W. K., Smith, V. H., & Lohman, K., (2002). Nitrogen and phosphorus relationships to benthic algal biomass in temperate streams. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 59(5), 865-874.
- Downing, B. D., Boss, E., Bergamaschi, B. A., Fleck, J. A., Lionberger, M. A., Ganju, N. K.,& Fujii, R., (2009). Quantifying fluxes and characterizing compositional changes of

Drake II, B. M., (2010). The effect of variable elemental composition and season on periphyton phosphorus flux in Northwest Arkansas streams. University of Arkansas.

driven by warming. Environmental microbiology, 16(8), 2550-2567

- Droppo IG, Liss SN, Williams D, Nelson T, Jaskot C, Trapp B., (2009). Dynamic existence of waterborne pathogens within river sediment compartments. Implications for water quality regulatory affairs. *Environ Sci Technol.* 43(6):1737-43.
- Ensign, S. H., & Doyle, M. W., (2006). Nutrient spiraling in streams and river networks.

Environmental monitoring and assessment, 191(5), 281.

examination of water and wastewater. APHA Washington DC, USA.

- FAO., (2013). The State of Food Insecurity in the World: The multiple dimensions of food security.
- Ferreira, V., Castagneyrol, B., Koricheva, J., Gulis, V., Chauvet, E., & Graça, M. A., (2015). A
- Ferrier R.C., Edwards A.C., Hirst D., Littlewood I.G., Watts C.D. and Morris R., (2001). Water of Scottish rivers: spatial and temporal trends. *Science of the Total Environment*, 265,
- Filstrup, C. T., & Downing, J. A., (2017). Relationship of chlorophyll to phosphorus and nitrogen in nutrient-rich lakes. *Inland Waters*, 7(4), 385-400.
- Freel, K. C., Edlund, A., & Jensen, P. R., (2012). Micro diversity and evidence for high dispersal rates in the marine actinomycete 'Salinispora pacifica'. *Environmental microbiology*.
- Freshwater Reviews, 1(1), 99-114.
- Gächter, R., & Meyer, J. S., (1993). The role of microorganisms in mobilization and fixation of phosphorus in sediments. In *Proceedings of the third international workshop on phosphorus in sediments* (pp. 103-121). *Springer*, Dordrecht.
- Garland, J. L., (1996). Analytical approaches to the characterization of samples of microbial communities using patterns of potential C source utilization. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 28(2), 213-221.
- Garland, J.L., & Mills, A.L., (1991). Classification and characterization of heterotrophic microbial communities on the basis of patterns of community-level sole-carbon-source utilization. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 57, 2351–2359.
- Garnier J, Billen G, Palfner L., (1999). Understanding the oxygen budget of the Mosel drainage network: the river Strahler approach. *Hydrobiologia* 410:151–66.

- Garnier J, Servais P, Billen G, Akopian M, Brion N., (2001). The oxygen budget in the Seine estuary: balance between photosynthesis and degradation of organic matter. 24:964–77.
- Garzio-Hadzick A, Shelton DR, Hill RL, Pachepsky YA, Guber AK, Rowland R., (2010). Survival of manure-borne E. coli in streambed sediment: effects of temperature and sediment properties *Water Re*sources; 44(9):2753-62.
- Gibson, C. E., (1971). Nutrient limitation. Journal Water Pollution Control Federation.
- Giorgi, Adonis & Feijoó, Claudia., (2010). Temporal variation of the periphyton biomass of Egeria densa Planch. in a pampean stream. *Limnetica*. 29. 269-278.
- Giri S, Qiu Z., (2016). Understanding the relationship of land uses and water quality in twenty first century: a review. *J Environmental management* 173:41–48.
- Giri, S., (2013). Assessing Best Management Practices and Implementation Strategies to Improve Water Quality.
- Gobet A, et al., (2011). Diversity and dynamics of rare and of resident bacterial populations in coastal sands. *ISME J*. 6:542–553.
- Goolsby, D.A., W.A. Battaglin, G.B., Lawrence, R.S. Artz, B.T. Aulenbach, R.P Hooper, D.R. Keeney, and G.J. Stensland., (1999). Flux and Source of Nutrients in the Mississippi-Atchafalaya River Basin.
- Grattan, R. M., & Suberkropp, K., (2001). Effects of nutrient enrichment on yellow poplar leaf decomposition and fungal activity in streams. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 20(1), 33-43.
- Grover, J. P., & Chrzanowski, T. H., (2000). Seasonal patterns of substrate utilization by bacterioplankton: case studies in four temperate lakes of different latitudes. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 23(1), 41-54.
- Gulis, V., Rosemond, A. D., Suberkropp, K., Weyers, H. S., & Benstead, J. P., (2004). Effects of nutrient enrichment on the decomposition of wood and associated microbial activity in streams. *Freshwater Biology*, 49(11), 1437–1447.
- Gundersen, P., (2007). The impact of forest management on water quality in Raulund-Rasmussen, K., Hansen, K. (Eds.).
- Hall Jr, R. O., & Meyer, J. L., (1998). The trophic significance of bacteria in a detritus-based stream food web. *Ecology*, 79(6), 1995-2012.
- Hargrave, B. T., (1994). Aerobic decomposition of sediment and detritus as a function of particle surface area and organic content. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *17*(4), 583-586.

- Havens, K. E., East, T. L., Hwang, S. J., Rodusky, A. J., Sharfstein, B., & Steinman, A. D., (1999). Algal responses to experimental nutrient addition in the littoral community of a subtropical lake. *Freshwater Biology*, 42(2), 329-344.
- Haygarth, P. M. and Jarvis, S. C., (2002). Agriculture, Hydrology and Water Quality, *CABI Publishing, Oxford.*
- Hepp, L. U., & Santos, S., (2009). Benthic communities of streams related to different land uses in a hydrographic basin in southern Brazil. *Environmental monitoring and Assessment*.
- Hieber, M., & Gessner, M. O., (2002). Contribution of stream detritivores fungi, and bacteria to leaf breakdown based on biomass estimates. *Ecology*, *83*(4), 1026-1038.
- Hill, A.R., (1996). Nitrate Removal in Stream Riparian Zones. Journal of Environmental Quality 25:743-755.
- Hill, B. H., Herlihy, A. T., & Kaufmann, P. R., (2002). Benthic microbial respiration in Appalachian Mountain, Piedmont, and Coastal Plains streams of the eastern USA. *Freshwater Biology*, 47(2), 185-194.
- Holden, Joseph, Philip M. Haygarth, Jannette MacDonald, Alan Jenkins, Alison Sapiets, Harriet G. Orr, Nicola Dunn et al., (2015). Agriculture's impacts on water quality.
- Houser, J. N., Mulholland, P. J., & Maloney, K. O., (2005). Catchment disturbance and stream metabolism: patterns in ecosystem respiration and gross primary production along a gradient of upland soil and vegetation disturbance. *Benthological Society*, 24(3), 538-552.
- Howarth, D. M., Gilchrist, G. S., Mullan, B. P., Wiseman, G. A., Edmonson, J. H., & Schomberg, P. J., (1999). Langerhans cell histiocytosis: diagnosis, natural history, management, and outcome. *Cancer*, 85(10), 2278-2290.
- Ito, T., Adachi, Y., Yamanashi, Y., & Shimada, Y., (2016). Long-term natural remediation process in textile dye–polluted river sediment driven by bacterial community changes. *Water research*, 100, 458-465.
- Jones, J. R., & Knowlton, M. F., (2005). Chlorophyll response to nutrients and non-algal seston in Missouri reservoirs and oxbow lakes. *Lake and Reservoir Management*, 21(3), 361-371.

Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 111(G4).

- Jung, S., & Regan, J. M., (2007). Comparison of anode bacterial communities and performance in microbial fuel cells with different electron donors. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 77(2), 393-402.
- Kaplan &Bott, T. L., (1985). Acclimation of stream-bed hetero- trophic microflora: metabolic
- Karatayev, A. Y., Burlakova, L. E., & Dodson, S. I., (2005). Community analysis of Belarusian lakes: relationship of species diversity to morphology, hydrology and land use. *Journal* of *Plankton Research*, 27(10), 1045-1053.
- Karlsson, J., Byström, P., Ask, J., Ask, P., Persson, L., & Jansson, M., (2009). Light limitation of nutrient-poor lake ecosystems. *Nature*, *460*(7254), 506-509.
- Kevin, G. T., Philip, N. O., Ramon, J. B., & Celso, G., (2008). Sediment and contaminant sources and transfers in river basins. In Sustainable management of sediment resources (Vol. 4, pp. 83-135). *Elsevier*.
- Klose, K., Cooper, S. D., Leydecker, A. D., & Kreitler, J., (2012). Relationships among catchment land use and concentrations of nutrients, algae, and dissolved oxygen in a southern California river. *Freshwater Science*, 31(3), 908-927.
- Knox, J. C., (2006). Floodplain sedimentation in the Upper Mississippi Valley: Natural versus human accelerated. *Geomorphology*, 79(3-4), 286-310.
- Köchling, T., Sanz, J. L., Galdino, L., Florencio, L., & Kato, M. T., (2017). Impact of pollution on the microbial diversity of a tropical river in an urbanized region of north eastern Brazil. *Int Microbiol*, 20(1), 11-24.
- Kohler, T. J., Heatherly, T. N., El-Sabaawi, R. W., Zandonà, E., Marshall, M. C., Flecker, A.
  S., ... & Thomas, S. A., (2012). Flow, nutrients, and light availability influence Neotropical epilithon biomass and stoichiometry. *Freshwater Science*, *31*(4), 1019-1034.
- Kolten, G.F., M.N. Landers, K.M. Nolan, & R.S. Parker., (1997). Sediment Transport and Geomorphology Issues in the Water Resources Division. Proceedings of the U.S.
- Lambin, E. F., Geist, H. J., & Lepers, E., (2003). Dynamics of land-use and land-cover change in tropical regions. *Annual review of environment and resources*, 28(1), 205-241.
- Lee, K.-H., T.M. Isenhart, & R.C. Schultz., (2003). Sediment and Nutrient Removal in an Established Multi-Species Riparian Buffer. *Soil and Water Conservation* 58:1-8.
- Lee, S.W., Hwang, S.J., Lee, S.B., Hwang, H.S., Sung, H.C., (2009). Landscape ecological approach to the relationships of land use patterns in watersheds to water quality characteristics. *Landscape Urban Plan.*, 92(2): 80-89.

- Lenat, D. R., & Crawford, J. K., (1994). Effects of land use on water quality and aquatic biota of three North Carolina Piedmont streams. *Hydrobiologia*, 294(3), 185–199.
- Liboriussen L, & Jeppesen E., (2002). Periphyton biomass, potential production and respiration in a shallow lake during winter and spring. *Hydrobiologia*,632: 201–210
- Likens, G. E., & Bormann, F. H., (1995). Linkages between terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. link to pollution of the Rouge River. *Environmental Pollution*, *158*(5), 1435-1443.
- Logue, J. B., & Lindström, E. S. (2008). Biogeography of bacterioplankton in inland waters.
- Lombardozzi, A., (2003). The Indian Ocean Rim. A Cost-Benefit Analysis from a Developmental Perspective with Special Reference to Southern Africa. *The Indian Ocean Rim. Southern Africa and Regional Co-operation. London*, 77-91.
- Lozupone CA, & Knight R., (2007). Global patterns in bacterial diversity. P. Natl. Acad.
- Lyautey, E., Jackson, C. R., Cayrou, J., Rols, J. L., & Garabétian, F., (2005). Bacterial community succession in natural river biofilm assemblages. *Microbial Ecology*, 50(4), 589-601.
- Lyons, M. M., & Dobbs, F. C., (2012). Differential utilization of carbon substrates by aggregate-associated and water-associated heterotrophic bacterial communities. *Hydrobiologia*, 686(1), 181-193.
- Madsen EL., (2011). Microorganisms and their roles in fundamental biogeochemical cycles.
- Maitre, David C., Ilse M. Kotzee, & Patrick J. O'Farrell., (2014). "Impacts of land-cover change on the water flow regulation ecosystem service: Invasive alien plants, fire and their policy implications." *Land Use Policy*, 36 171-181.
- Malcoln, s. J. & Stanley, s. O., (1982). The sediment environment sediment microbiology.
- Malone, S. J., (2009). Agricultural Nonpoint Source Pollution Management: Water Quality Impacts of Balm Road Treatment Marsh, Hillsborough County, Florida.
- Marxsen, J., & Witzel, K. P., (1991). Microbial Enzymes in Aquatic Environments. Springer.
- Mati, B. M., Morgan, R. P., Gichuki, F. N., Quinton, J. N., Brewer, T. R., & Liniger, H. P., (2000). Assessment of erosion hazard with the USLE and GIS: A case study of the Upper Ewaso Ng'iro North basin of Kenya. *Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*.
- Matsumoto, T., & Yamano, T., (2011). Optimal fertilizer uses on maize production in East Africa. In *Emerging Development of Agriculture in East Africa* (pp. 117-132). *Springer*.

McCauley, E., Downing, J. A., & Watson, S., (1989). Sigmoid relationships between nutrients and chlorophyll among lakes. *Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, *46*(7), 1171-1175.

meta-analysis of the effects of nutrient enrichment on litter decomposition in streams.

- Meyers, N., C. G. Mittermeier, G. A. B. de Fonseca & J. Kent., (2000). Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature* 403: 853–858.
- Meyers, P. A., & Teranes, J. L., (2002). Sediment organic matter. In *Tracking environmental change using lake sediments* (pp. 239-269). *Springer*.
- Ministry of Planning and National Development., (1994). Kiambu District Development Plan (1994-96). Ministry of Planning and National Development, Government Printer, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Monitoring forest cover change within different reserve types in southern Ghana.
- Mori, N., Debeljak, B., Kocman, D. et al., (2017). Testing the influence of sediment granulometry on heterotrophic respiration with a new laboratory flow-through system. *J Soils Sediments*.
- Mrozik, A., Nowak, A., & Piotrowska-Seget, Z., (2014). Microbial diversity in waters, sediments and microbial mats evaluated using fatty acid-based methods. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 11(5), 1487-1496.
- Mulholland, P. J., & DeAngelist, D. L., (1999). Exchange and Nutrient Spiraling. *Streams and ground waters*, 149.
- Muturi, E. J., Donthu, R. K., Fields, C. J., Moise, I. K., & Kim, C. H., (2017). Effect of pesticides on microbial communities in container aquatic habitats. *Scientific reports*, 7, 44565.
- Nadir, S., Jaoko, V., Osano, P., & Ongugo, P., (2012). Status of Water Quality in Mt. Elgon, Cherangany Forested Ecosystems and entire River Nzoia Catchment in Kenya.
- Nafziger, E., (2009). Cropping systems. agronomy handbook, 49 Pp.
- Nainar A, Bidin K, Walsh RP, Ewers RM, & Reynolds G., (2017). Effects of different land-use on suspended sediment dynamics in Sabah (Malaysian Borneo).
- Nalepa, T. F., Fanslow, D. L., Pothoven, S. A., Foley III, A. J., & Lang, G. A., (2007). Longterm trends in benthic macroinvertebrate populations in Lake Huron over the past four decades. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 33(2), 421-436.
- Nam, S.W., Park, H. Y., Kim, J.H., Seo, J.H., Han, N.S., Kim, B.W., (2001). Expression of Bacillus macerans cyclodextrin glucanotransferase gene in Saccharomyces cerevisiae.

Biotechnology Letters 23, 727–730. *Springer*.Nayak, S., & Mandal, M., (2012). Impact of land-use and land-cover changes on temperature trends over Western India. *Current Science*, *102*(8), 1166-1173.

- Nelson, E. J., & Booth, D. B., (2002). Sediment sources in an urbanizing, mixed land-use watershed. *Journal of Hydrology*, 264(1-4), 51-68.Newcombe, C.P. & D.D. MacDonald., (1991). Effects of Suspended Sediments on Aquatic Ecosystems. North American Journal of *Fisheries Management* 11:72-82.
- Nikora, V. I., D. G. Goring, & B. J. F., (2002). Some observations of effects of micro-organisms growing on the bed of an open channel on the turbulence properties. *Fluid Mech*.
- Niño-García JP, Ruiz-González C, Del Giorgio PA., (2016). Interactions between hydrology and water chemistry shape bacterioplankton biogeography across boreal freshwater networks. *ISME* 10(7):1755-66.
- Niyogi, D.K.; Simon, K.S., &Townsend, C.R., (2004). Land use and stream ecosystem functioning: Nutrient uptake in streams that contrast in agricultural development. Arch. Hydrobiology., 160, 471–486. Limnology and Oceanography, 47(1), 278-289
- Norris, V. O. L., (1993). The use of buffer zones to protect water quality: a review. *Water* resources management, 7, 257-272.
- Opdyke, M.R., M.B. David, & B.L. Rhoads., (2006). Influence of geomorphological variability in channel characteristics on sediment denitrification in agricultural streams.
- Orcutt, B. N., Sylvan, J. B., Knab, N. J., & Edwards, K. J., (2011). Microbial ecology of the dark ocean above, at, and below the seafloor. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.*, 75(2), 361-422.
- Pascoal, C., Cássio, F., Marcotegui, A., Sanz, B., & Gomes, P., (2005). Role of fungi, bacteria, and invertebrates in leaf litter breakdown in a polluted river. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 24(4), 784-797.
- Paul, B. K., & Rashid, H., (2017). Land Use Change and Coastal Management. Climatic Hazards in Coastal Bangladesh, 183–207.
- Payn, R. A., Webster, J. R., Mulholland, P. J., Valett, H. M., & Dodds, W. K., (2005). Estimation of stream nutrient uptake from nutrient addition experiments. *Limnology and Oceanography: Methods*, 3(3), 174-182.
- Permatasari, P. A., Setiawan, Y., Khairiah, R. N., & Effendi, H., (2017). The effect of land use change on water quality: A case study in Ciliwung Watershed. *Earth and Environmental Science*.

- Petersen, r. C. J., Cummins, k.w. & ward, g. M., (1989). Microbial and animal processing of detritus in a woodland stream. *Ecol. Monogr.*, 59: 21-39.
- Pienkowski, M., & Beaufoy, G., (2002). The environmental impact of olive oil production in the European Union: practical options for improving the environmental impact.
- Pitchaikani, J. S., Ananthan, G., & Sudhakar, M., (2010). Studies on the effect of coolant water effluent of tuticorin thermal power station on hydro biological characteristics of Tuticorin Coastal Waters, South East Coast of India. *Curr. Res. J. Biol. Sci*, 2(2), 118-123.
- Pope, R. J., Gordon, A. M., & Kaushik, N. K., (1999). Leaf litter colonization by invertebrates in the littoral zone of a small oligotrophic lake. *Hydrobiologia*, *392*(2), 99-112.
- Porter, K. G., & Feig, Y. S., (1980). The use of DAPI for identifying and counting aquatic microflora 1. *Limnology and oceanography*, 25(5), 943-948.
- Prabu, V. A., Rajkumar, M., & Perumal, P., (2008). Seasonal variations in physico-chemical characteristics of Pichavaram mangroves, southeast coast of India. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, 29(6), 945-950.
- Qu, X., Ren, Z., Zhang, H., Zhang, M., Zhang, Y., Liu, X., & Peng, W., (2017). Influences of anthropogenic land use on microbial community structure and functional potentials of stream benthic biofilms.
- Rajasegar, M., Srinivasan, M., & Khan, S. A., (2002). Distribution of sediment nutrients of Vellar estuary in relation to shrimp farming.
- Ramankutty, N., & Foley, J. A., (1999). Estimating historical changes in global land cover: *Raleigh, NC: North Carolina State University*.
- Randall, G.W., D.R. Huggins, M.P. Russelle, D.J. Fuchs, W.W. Nelson, & J.L. Anderson., (2013).Nitrate Losses Through Subsurface Tile Drainage in Conservation Reserve Program, Alfalfa, and Row Crop Systems. Journal of *Environmental Quality*.

responses to dissolved organic matter. Fresh water. Biol. 15: 479-492.

- Rounsevell, M. D. A., Annetts, J. E., Audsley, E., Mayr, T., & Reginster, I., (2003). Modelling the spatial distribution of agricultural land use at the regional scale. *Agriculture*, *Ecosystems & Environment*, 95(2-3), 465-479.
- Royer-Tardif, S., Bradley, R. L., & Parsons, W. F. J., (2010). Evidence that plant diversity and site productivity confer stability to forest floor microbial biomass. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 42(5), 813-821.

- Rysgaard, S., Risgaard-Petersen, N., Niels Peter, S., Kim, J., & Lars Peter, N., (1994). Oxygen regulation of nitrification and denitrification in sediments. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 39(7), 1643-1652.
- Sabater, S., Artigas, J., Gaudes, A., Munoz, I., Urrea, G., & Romani, A. M., (2011). Long-term moderate nutrient inputs enhance autotrophy in a forested Mediterranean stream. *Freshwater Biology*, 56(7), 1266-1280.
- Salomo, S., Münch, C., & Röske, I., (2009). Evaluation of the metabolic diversity of microbial communities in four different filter layers of a constructed wetland with vertical flow by Biolog<sup>™</sup> analysis. *Water research*, 43(18), 4569-4578.
- Santmire, J. A., & Leff, L. G., (2007). The effect of sediment grain size on bacterial communities in streams. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 26(4), 601-610.
- Santmire, J. A., & Leff, L. G., (2007). The influence of stream sediment particle size on bacterial abundance and community composition. *Aquatic Ecology*, *41*(2), 153-160.
- Šantr, H., & SiraŠicraba, M., (1991). On the relationship between specific respiration activity and microbial biomass in soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *23*(6), 525-532.
- Schiller, D. V., Martí, E., Riera, J. L., & Sabater, F., (2007). Effects of nutrients and light on periphyton biomass and nitrogen uptake in Mediterranean streams with contrasting land uses. *Freshwater Biology*, 52(5), 891-906.
- Schimel, J., Balser, T. C., & Wallenstein, M., (2007). Microbial stress-response physiology and its implications for ecosystem function. *Ecology*, 88(6), 1386-139.
- Schottler, S.P., J. Ulrich, P. Belmont, R. Moore, J.W. Lauer, D.R. Engstrom, & Almendinger, J.E., (2014). Twentieth century agricultural drainage creates more erosive rivers. *hydrology Processes* 28:1951–1961.
- Schultz, R.C., T.M. Isenhart, W.W. Simpkins, & J.P. Colletti., (2005). Riparian Forest Buffers in Agroecosystems -Lessons Learned from the Bear Creek Watershed, Central Iowa, USA. Agroforestry Systems 61:35-50.
- Sci.;104: 11436–11440.Lubowski, R.N., Vesterby, M., Bucholtz, S., Baez, A., & Roberts, M.J., (2006). Major uses of land in the United States.
- Sediment source identification in a semiarid watershed at soil mapping unit scales.
- Seiki, T., Izawa, H., Date, E., & Sunahara, H., (1994). Sediment oxygen demand in Hiroshima bay. *Water Research*, 28(2), 385-393.

- Seitzinger, S.P., Mayorga, E., Bouwman, A.F., Kroeze, C., Beusen, A.H.W., Billen, G., Van Drecht, G., Dumont, E., Fekete, B.M., Garnier, J., Harrison, J., Wisser, D., & Wollheim, W.M., (2010). Global river nutrient export: a scenariom analysis of past and future trends. *Global Biogeochem*. Cycles, 24: 116.
- Sharma, A., Tiwari, K. N., & Bhadoria, P. B. S., (2011). Effect of land use land cover change on soil erosion potential in an agricultural watershed. *Environmental monitoring and* assessment, 173(1-4), 789-801.
- Shifts in microbial community structure and function in light-and dark-grown biofilms
- Sikka, A.K., & Selvi, V., (2005). Experimental examination of rational runoff coefficient for small agricultural and forest watersheds in the Nilgiris.
- Silva-Junior, E. F., Moulton, T. P., Boëchat, I. G., & Gücker, B., (2014). Leaf decomposition and ecosystem metabolism as functional indicators of land use impacts on tropical streams. *Ecological Indicators*, 36, 195-204.
- Singer G, Besemer K, Schmitt-Kopplin P, Hödl I, Battin TJ., (2010). Physical heterogeneity increases biofilm resource use and its molecular diversity in stream mesocosms.
- Singh J. S. et al., (2011). Efficient soil microorganisms: a new dimension for sustainable agriculture and environmental development. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment*, 140(3): 339-353.
- Singh, M., Singh, I. B., & Müller, G. (2007). Sediment characteristics and transportation dynamics of the Ganga River. *Geomorphology*, 86(1-2), 144-175.
- Society for general microbiology, London.
- Stonestrom, D. A., Scanlon, B. R., & Zhang, L., (2009). Introduction to special section on impacts of land use change on water resources. *Water resources research*, 45(7).
- Stout III, & Ben M., (2003). River Continuum Concept as Analytical Template for Assessing Watershed Health Wheeling Jesuit University.
- Sujitha, P. C., Dev, D. M., Sowmya, P. K., & Mini, P. R., (2012). Physicochemical parameters of Karamana river water in Trivandrum district, Kerala, India. *International journal of environmental sciences*, 2(3), 1417-1434.
- Sun, M. Y., Dafforn, K. A., Brown, M. V., & Johnston, E. L., (2012). Bacterial communities are sensitive indicators of contaminant stress. *Marine pollution bulletin*, 64(5), 1029-1038.
- Surian, N., (2002). Downstream variation in grain size along an Alpine river: Analysis of

- Syvitski, J. P., Vörösmarty, C. J., Kettner, A. J., & Green, P., (2005). Impact of humans on the flux of terrestrial sediment to the global coastal ocean. *science*, *308*(5720), 376-380.
- Talling, J. F., & Driver, D., (1961). Primary Productivity Measurement, Marine and Fresh water.
- Tang, Z., Engel, B. A., Pijanowski, B. C., & Lim, K. J., (2005). Forecasting land use change and its environmental impact at a watershed scale. *Journal of environmental management*, 76(1), 35-45.
- Tank, J. L., & Dodds, W. K., (2003). Nutrient limitation of epilithic and epixylic biofilms in ten North American streams. *Freshwater Biology*, 48(6), 1031-1049.
- Tarkowska-Kukuryk, M., & Mieczan, T., (2012). Effect of substrate on periphyton communities and relationships among food web components in shallow hypertrophic lake.
- Tenge, J. M., Lusweti, J. K., & Ng'wena, G. A. M., (2015). Assessment of Drinking Water Quality from the Malakisi River in Western Kenya. *International Journal of Innovative Research & Development*, 4(4), 154-161.
- Thamdrump, B., and Dalsgaard, T., (2002). Production of N2 through anaerobic ammonium oxidation coupled to nitrate reduction in marine sediments. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 68, 1312–1318
- Thomann RV, & Mueller JA., (1987). Principles of surface water quality modelling and control.
- Thomas, D. J., Sullivan, S. L., Price, A. L., & Zimmerman, S. M. (2005). Common freshwater cyanobacteria grow in 100% CO2. *Astrobiology*, *5*(1), 66-74.
- Thomaz, s. M., Roberto, m. C. & Bini, l. M., (1997b), Limnologia do reservatório de Segredo: padrões de variação espacial e temporal, pp. 19-37. *In:* A. A. Agostinho & L. C. Gomes (eds.), *Reservatório de Segredo: bases ecológicas para o manejo*. Eduem, Maringá
- & Tilman, D. G., (1997). Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle sources and consequences. *Ecological applications*, 7(3), 737-750
- Tiquia, S. M. (2010). Metabolic diversity of the heterotrophic microorganisms and potential
- Torsvik, V., Sørheim, R., & Goksøyr, J., (1996). Total bacterial diversity in soil and sediment communities a review. *Journal of Industrial Microbiology*, *17*(3-4), 170-178.
- Tsegaye, T., Sheppardi, D., Islam, K.R., Johnson, A., Tadessei, W., Atalay, A., Marzen, L., (2006). Development of chemical index as a measure of in-stream water quality in response to land use and land cover changes. *Water Air Soil pollution*. 174, 161e179.

- Underwood, E. C., J. H. Viers, K. R. Klausmeyer, R. L. Cox & M. R. Shaw., (2009). Threats and biodiversity in the Mediterranean biome. Diversity and Distributions 15: 188–197.
- UNEP, I., Fischer-Kowalski, M., West, J., Giljum, S., Dittrich, M., Eisenmenger, N & Krausmann, F., (2016). Global material flows and resource productivity. Assessment report for the UNEP international resource panel.
- Uriarte, M., Yackulic, C. B., Lim, Y., & Arce-Nazario, J. A., (2011). Influence of land use on water quality in a tropical landscape: a multi-scale analysis. *Landscape ecology*.
- US EPA, U. (2016). Environmental Protection Agency., (2016a). Basic Information about NO<sub>2</sub>.
- Valentin, C., Agus, F., Alamban, R., Boosaner, A., Bricquet, J. P., Chaplot, V., & Phachomphonh, K., (2008). Runoff and sediment losses from 27 upland catchments in Southeast Asia: Impact of rapid land use changes and conservation practices. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 128*(4), 225-238.
- Van Beelen, P., (2003). A review on the application of microbial toxicity tests for deriving sediment quality guidelines. *Chemosphere*, *53*(8), 795-808.
- Van Horn, D. J., Sinsabaugh, R. L., Takacs-Vesbach, C. D., Mitchell, K. R., & Dahm, C. N., (2011). Response of heterotrophic stream biofilm communities to a gradient of resources. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 64(2), 149-161.
- Van Rompaey, A. J., Verstraeten, G., Van Oost, K., Govers, G., & Poesen, J., (2001). Modelling mean annual sediment yield using a distributed approach. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 26(11), 1221-1236.
- Vance, E. D., & Chapin Iii, F. S., (2001). Substrate limitations to microbial activity in taiga forest floors. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 33(2), 173-188.
- Vannote RL, Minshall GW, Cummins KW, Sedell JR, Cushing CE., (1980). The river continuum concept. Can J Aquatic Science 37:1307.
- Vigiak, O., Borselli, L., Newham, L. T. H., McInnes, J., & Roberts, A. M., (2012). Comparison of conceptual landscape metrics to define hillslope-scale sediment delivery ratio. *Geomorphology*, 138(1), 74-88.
- Vörös, L., & Padisak, J., (1991). Phytoplankton biomass and chlorophyll-a in some shallow lakes in Central Europe. *Hydrobiologia*, 215(2), 111-119.
- Vrede K, Heldal M, Norland S, Bratbak G., (2002). Elemental composition (C, N, P) and cell volume of exponentially growing and nutrient-limited bacterioplankton. Appl Environ Microbiol. 68(6):2965-71.

- Walling, D. E., & Amos, C. M., (1999). Source, storage and mobilization of fine sediment in a chalk stream system. *Hydrological processes*, 13(3), 323-340.
- Wang, S. Y., Sudduth, E. B., Wallenstein, M. D., Wright, J. P., & Bernhardt, E. S., (2011).Watershed urbanization alters the composition and function of stream bacterial communities. *PLoS One*, 6(8).
- Wang, Y., Sheng, H. F., He, Y., Wu, J. Y., Jiang, Y. X., Tam, N. F. Y., & Zhou, H. W., (2012). Comparison of the levels of bacterial diversity in freshwater, intertidal wetland, and marine sediments by using millions of illumine tags. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*,78(23), 8264-8271.
- Ward, g. M., ward, a. K., Dahm, c. N. & Aumen, n. G., (1990). Origin and formation of organic particles in aquatic systems, pp. 27-56. *In*: r. S. Wotton (ed.), *The biology of particles in aquatic systems*.
- Watson, R. T., Noble, I. R., Bolin, B., Ravindranath, N. H., Verardo, D. J., & Dokken, D. J., (2000). Land use, land-use change and forestry: a special report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press.
- Watson, S. B., McCauley, E., & Downing, J. A., (1997). Patterns in phytoplankton taxonomic composition across temperate lakes of differing nutrient status. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 42(3), 487-495.
- Wetzel, R. G., (2001). Limnology: lake and river ecosystems. gulf professional publishing.
- Widder S, Besemer K, Singer GA, Ceola S, Bertuzzo E, Quince C, Sloan WT, Rinaldo A, Battin TJ (2014), Fluvial network organization imprints on microbial co-occurrence networks.
- Wilkerson, E., Hagan, J. M., Siegel, D., & Whitman, A. A., (2006). The effectiveness of different buffer widths for protecting headwater stream temperature in Maine. *Forest Science*, 52(3).
- Wipfli, M. S., Richardson, J. S., & Naiman, R. J., (2007). Ecological Linkages Between Headwaters and Downstream Ecosystems: Transport of Organic Matter, Invertebrates, and Wood Down Headwater Channels 1. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 43(1), 72-85.
- Wood, P. J., & Armitage, P. D., (1997). Biological effects of fine sediment in the lotic environment. *Environmental management*, 21(2), 203-217.
- WWAP, U., (2017). United Nations World Water Assessment Programme.

- Xiaolan, L., (2009). Variation Trend of Water and Soil Loss on Sanjiang Plain. *Environmental Science and Management*, (10), 33.
- Yamada, H., & Nakamura, F., (2002). Effect of fine sediment deposition and channel works on periphyton biomass in the Makomanai River, northern Japan. *River Research and Applications*, 18(5), 481-493.
- Yeager, P. E., & Sinsabaugh, R. L., (1998). Microbial diversity along a sediment detrital particle size gradient. *Aquatic Ecology*, 32(4), 281-289.
- Young, R. G., Matthaei, C. D., & Townsend, C. R., (2008). Organic matter breakdown and ecosystem metabolism: functional indicators for assessing river ecosystem health. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 27(3), 605-625.
- Yu, D., Shi, P., Liu, Y., &Xun, B., (2013). Detecting land use and water quality relationships from the viewpoint of ecological restoration in an urban area.
- Zaidi, B. R., & Imam, S. H., (1999). Factors affecting microbial degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon phenanthrene in the Caribbean coastal water. *Marine Pollution*.
- Zhang, B., Wang, H., Yao, S., & Bi, L., (2013). Litter quantity confers soil functional resilience through mediating soil biophysical habitat and microbial community structure on an eroded bare land restored with mono Pinus massoniana. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*.
- Zhang, W., Li, H., Sun, D., & Zhou, L., (2012). A statistical assessment of the impact of agricultural land use intensity on regional surface water quality at multiple scales. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 9, 4170e4186.
- Zhang, Y. Z., Ran, L. Y., Li, C. Y., & Chen, X. L., (2015). Diversity, structures, and collagendegrading mechanisms of bacterial collagenolytic proteases. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, *81*(18), 6098-6107.

### APPENDEX



Picture1. Farmer applying fertilizer and common pesticide used in the sampled catchment.



Picture 2. Surface runoff after rain event in one of the sampling days and open agricultural field along kapkateny agricultural section.



Picture 3 . Agricultural practices along the sampled streams (Mono cropping) with poor soil control measures.



Picture 4. Measurement of the physicochemical parameters of the agricultural and forested stream sections.



Picture 5 . Field sampling of the epipsamic, epithilic bioflims and water sample collection.



Picture 6. Laboratory analysis and experiment set up for primary production measurements.


Picture 7. Laboratory analysis for different water nutrients. (SRP,TP,TN, NH4 NO2, NO3 and chlorophyll *a*).



Picture 8 Physical appearance of the forested sampled stream section sites with clear water.



Picture 9. Physical appearance of the agricultural sampled stream section sites with highly turbid water.